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Foreword

Holmes once said to his companion, “It may be that you are not yourself luminous, but that you are
a conductor of light.” The current crew of the Barque Lone Star has been guided by the light of those
who assembled more than fifty years ago at the Farmer’s Daughter steak house in Fort Worth. This
small, dedicated group of Sherlockians chose to gather and celebrate a mutual interest in the great
detective and planted a seed that would continue to thrive. The enthusiastic gathering from that first
meeting has grown into a vibrant, virtual crowd that spans oceans and time zones. What has not
changed is the interest and respect for the Game and its creator.

Scions have appeared, grown, and—in some cases—ceased, and The Barque Lone Star has had its
own ups and downs. As the following documents show, however, the strong roots planted in November,
1970 have sustained it. They recognized neither gender nor creed beyond a belief in the Game, and no
other scion can claim the auspicious recognition for being a force in the Texas Navy. In her thesis “A
Study in Sherlock: Knowing to be Known,” (parts reprinted in these pages), Allana Wooley notes, “[F]rom
my experiences over the past year ..., the epitome of a Sherlockian [is] [f]riendly, always willing to help a
fellow Sherlockian further the study of Sherlockia, and generous with knowledge and belongings if it will
go toward spreading the discipleship of Sherlock Holmes.”

As documented in these pages, members of the crew have made pilgrimages to such exotic
locations as Sherlock, Texas; held local conferences to educate and spread knowledge of the great
detective; penned pastiches, poems, songs, puzzles, cartoons, and scholarly works; and collected and
then passed on their collections to be made available to an even greater audience. Now, the Crew will
pass another milestone with its first international conference. With such a strong history and a growing
membership, surely more lies ahead.

Let us celebrate the past but look forward to an even brighter future over the next fifty years for the
Third Mate and the Deck Hands of the Barque Lone Star.

Note: All typos, errors, and inaccuracies were left from the original texts, articles, and stories on
purpose.
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The Adventure of the Five Orange Pips

The founding and naming of the Crew of the Barque Lone Star is based on “The Adventure of the Five
Orange Pips”, written by Dr. John H. Watson, published in the Strand Magazine, under the authorship of
Arthur Conan Doyle, friend and literary agent of Dr. Watson, in November 1891.

The events which occurred and recounted in “The Five Orange Pips”, subsequently published in The
Adventures of Sherlock Holmes, occurred in September 1887.
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The Adventures of Sherlock Holmes
Adventure VII - “The Five Orange Pips”

When | glance over my notes and records of the Sherlock Holmes cases between the years '82 and
'90, | am faced by so many which present strange and interesting features, that it is no easy matter to
know which to choose and which to leave. Some, however, have already gained publicity through the
papers, and others have not offered a field for those peculiar qualities which my friend possessed in so
high a degree, and which it is the object of these papers to illustrate. Some, too, have baffled his
analytical skill, and would be, as narratives, beginnings, without an ending, while others have been but
partially cleared up, and have their explanations founded rather upon conjecture and surmise than on
that absolute logical proof which was so dear to him. There is, however, one of these last which was so
remarkable in its details and so startling in its results, that | am tempted to give some account of it, in
spite of the fact that there are points in connection with it which never have been, and probably never
will be, entirely cleared up.

The year '87 furnished us with a long series of cases of greater or less interest, of which | retain the
records. Among my headings under this one twelve months, | find an account of the adventure of the
Paradol Chamber, of the Amateur Mendicant Society, who held a luxurious club in the lower vault of a
furniture warehouse, of the facts connected with the loss of the British barque Sophy Anderson, of the
singular adventures of the Grice Patersons in the island of Uffa, and finally of the Camberwell poisoning
case. In the latter, as may be remembered, Sherlock Holmes was able, by winding up the dead man's
watch, to prove that it had been wound up two hours ago, and that therefore the deceased had gone to
bed within that time - a deduction which was of the greatest importance in clearing up the case. All
these | may sketch out at some future date, but none of them present such singular features as the
strange train of circumstances which | have now taken up my pen to describe.

It was in the latter days of September, and the equinoctial gales had set in with exceptional violence.
All day the wind had screamed and the rain had beaten against the windows, so that even here in the
heart of great, hand-made London we were forced to raise our minds for the instant from the routine of
life, and to recognize the presence of those great elemental forces which shriek at mankind through the
bars of his civilization, like untamed beasts in a cage. As evening drew in the storm grew louder and
louder, and the wind cried and sobbed like a child in the chimney. Sherlock Holmes sat moodily at one
side of the fireplace cross-indexing his records of crime, whilst | at the other was deep in one of Clark
Russell's fine sea stories, until the howl of the gale from without seemed to blend with the text, and the
splash of the rain to lengthen out into the long swash of the sea waves. My wife was on a visit to her
aunt's, and for a few days | was a dweller once more in my old quarters at Baker Street.

'Why,' said |, glancing up at my companion, 'that was surely the bell? Who could come tonight?
Some friend of yours, perhaps?’

'Except yourself | have none,' he answered. 'l do not encourage visitors.'

'A client, then?'

'If so, it is a serious case. Nothing less would bring a man out on such a day, and at such an hour. But
| take it that it is more likely to be some crony of the landlady's.’

Sherlock Holmes was wrong in his conjecture, however, for there came a step in the passage, and a
tapping at the door. He stretched out his long arm to turn the lamp away from himself and towards the
vacant chair upon which a newcomer must sit. '‘Come in!' said he.

The man who entered was young, some two-and-twenty at the outside, well groomed and trimly
clad, with something of refinement and delicacy in his bearing. The streaming umbrella which he held in
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his hand, and his long shining waterproof told of the fierce weather through which he had come. He
looked about him anxiously in the glare of the lamp, and | could see that his face was pale and his eyes
heavy, like those of a man who is weighed down with some great anxiety.

'l owe you an apology,' he said, raising his golden pince-nez to his eyes. 'l trust that | am not
intruding. | fear that | have brought some traces of the storm and the rain into your snug chamber."

'Give me your coat and umbrella,’ said Holmes. 'They may rest here on the hook, and will be dry
presently. You have come up from the south-west, | see.’

'Yes, from Horsham.'

'That clay and chalk mixture which | see upon your toe-caps is quite distinctive:

'l have come for advice.'

'That is easily got.'

'And help.'

'That is not always so easy.'

'l have heard of you, Mr Holmes. | heard from Major Prendergast how you saved him in the
Tankerville Club Scandal.'

'Ah, of course. He was wrongfully accused of cheating at cards.'

'He said that you could solve anything.'

'He said too much."

'That you are never beaten.'

'l have been beaten four times - three times by men and once by a woman.'

'But what is that compared with the number of your successes?'

"It is true that | have been generally successful.'

'Then you may be so with me.'

'l beg that you will draw your chair up to the fire, and favour me with some details as to your case.'

"It is no ordinary one.'

'None of those which come to me are. | am the last court of appeal.’

'And yet | question, sir, whether, in all your experience, you have ever listened to a more mysterious
and inexplicable chain of events than those which have happened in my own family.'

'You fill me with interest,' said Holmes. 'Pray give us the essential facts from the commencement,
and | can afterwards question you as to those details which seem to me to be most important.'

The young man pulled his chair up, and pushed his wet feet out towards the blaze.

'My name,' said he, 'is John Openshaw, but my own affairs have, so far as | can understand it, little
to do with this awful business. It is a hereditary matter, so in order to give you an idea of the facts, |
must go back to the commencement of the affair.

'You must know that my grandfather had two sons - my uncle Elias and my father Joseph. My father
had a small factory at Coventry, which he enlarged at the time of the invention of bicycling. He was the
patentee of the Openshaw unbreakable tyre, and his business met with such success that he was able to
sell it, and to retire upon a handsome competence.

'My uncle Elias emigrated to America when he was a young man, and became a planter in Florida,
where he was reported to have done very well. At the time of the war he fought in Jackson's army, and
afterwards under Hood, where he rose to be a colonel. When Lee laid down his arms my uncle returned
to his plantation, where he remained for three or four years. About 1869 or 1870 he came back to
Europe, and took a small estate in Sussex, near Horsham. He had made a very considerable fortune in
the States, and his reason for leaving them was his aversion to the negroes, and his dislike of the
Republican policy in extending the franchise to them. He was a singular man, fierce and quick-tempered,
very foul-mouthed when he was angry, and of a most retiring disposition. During all the years that he
lived at Horsham | doubt if ever he set foot in the town. He had a garden and two or three fields round
his house, and there he would take his exercise, though very often for weeks on end he would never
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leave his room. He drank a great deal of brandy, and smoked very heavily, but he would see no society,
and did not want any friends, not even his own brother.

'He didn't mind me, in fact he took a fancy to me, for at the time when he saw me first | was a
youngster of twelve or so. That would be in the year 1878, after he had been eight or nine years in
England. He begged my father to let me live with him, and he was very kind to me in his way. When he
was sober he used to be fond of playing backgammon and draughts with me, and he would make me his
representative both with the servants and with the tradespeople, so that by the time that | was sixteen |
was quite master of the house. | kept all the keys, and could go where | liked and do what | liked, so long
as | did not disturb him in his privacy. There was one singular exception, however, for he had a single
room, a lumber-room up among the attics, which was invariably locked, and which he would never
permit either me or anyone else to enter. With a boy's curiosity | have peeped through the keyhole, but
| was never able to see more than such a collection of old trunks and bundles as would be expected in
such a room.

'One day - it was in March, 1883 - a letter with a foreign stamp lay upon the table in front of the
Colonel's plate. It was not a common thing for him to receive letters, for his bills were all paid in ready
money, and he had no friends of any sort. "From India!" said he, as he took it up, "Pondicherry post-
mark! What can this be?" Opening it hurriedly, out there jumped five little dried orange pips, which
pattered down upon his plate. | began to laugh at this, but the laugh was struck from my lips at the sight
of his face. His lip had fallen, his eyes were protruding, his skin the colour of putty, and he glared at the
envelope which he still held in his trembling hand. "K. K. K.," he shrieked, and then: "My God, my God,
my sins have overtaken me."

""What is it, uncle!" | cried.

"'Death," said he, and rising from the table he retired to his room, leaving me palpitating with
horror. | took up the envelope, and saw scrawled in red ink upon the inner flap, just above the gum, the
letter K three times repeated. There was nothing else save the five dried pips. What could be the reason
of his overpowering terror? | left the breakfast-table, and as | ascended the stairs | met him coming
down with an old rusty key, which must have belonged to the attic, in one hand, and a small brass box,
like a cash box, in the other.

""They may do what they like, but I'll checkmate them still," said he, with an oath. "Tell Mary that |
shall want a fire in my room today, and send down to Fordham, the Horsham lawyer."

'l did as he ordered, and when the lawyer arrived | was asked to step up to the room. The fire was
burning brightly, and in the grate there was a mass of black, fluffy ashes, as of burned paper, while the
brass box stood open and empty beside it. As | glanced at the box | noticed, with a start, that upon the
lid were printed the treble K which | had read in the morning upon the envelope.

"l wish you, John," said my uncle, "to witness my will. | leave my estate, with all its advantages and
all its disadvantages to my brother, your father, whence it will, no doubt, descend to you. If you can
enjoy it in peace, well and good! If you find you cannot, take my advice, my boy, and leave it to your
deadliest enemy. | am sorry to give you such a two-edged thing, but | can't say what turn things are
going to take. Kindly sign the paper where Mr Fordham shows you."

'I signed the paper as directed, and the lawyer took it away with him. The singular incident made, as
you may think, the deepest impression upon me, and | pondered over it, and turned it every way in my
mind without being able to make anything of it. Yet | could not shake off the vague feeling of dread
which it left behind it, though the sensation grew less keen as the weeks passed, and nothing happened
to disturb the usual routine of our lives. | could see a change in my uncle, however. He drank more than
ever, and he was less inclined for any sort of society. Most of his time he would spend in his room, with
the door locked upon the inside, but sometimes he would emerge in a sort of drunken frenzy and would
burst out of the house and tear about the garden with a revolver in his hand, screaming out that he was
afraid of no man, and that he was not to be cooped up, like a sheep in a pen, by man or devil. When
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these hot fits were over, however, he would rush tumultuously in at the door, and lock and bar it behind
him, like a man who can brazen it out no longer against the terror which lies at the roots of his soul. At
such times | have seen his face even on a cold day, glisten with moisture as though it were new raised
from a basin.

'Well, to come to an end of the matter, Mr Holmes, and not to abuse your patience, there came a
night when he made one of those drunken sallies from which he never came back. We found him, when
we went to search for him, face downwards in a little green-scummed pool, which lay at the foot of the
garden. There was no sign of any violence, and the water was but two feet deep, so that the jury, having
regard to his known eccentricity, brought in a verdict of suicide. But |, who knew how he winced from
the very thought of death, had much ado to persuade myself that he had gone out of his way to meet it.
The matter passed, however, and my father entered into possession of the estate, and of some fourteen
thousand pounds, which lay to his credit at the bank.'

'One moment,' Holmes interposed. 'Your statement is, | foresee, one of the most remarkable to
which | have ever listened. Let me have the date of the reception by your uncle of the letter, and the
date of his supposed suicide.'

'The letter arrived on March the 10th, 1883. His death was seven weeks later, upon the night of the
2nd of May.'

'Thank you. Pray proceed.’

'When my father took over the Horsham property, he, at my request, made a careful examination of
the attic, which had been always locked up. We found the brass box there, although its contents had
been destroyed. On the inside of the cover was a paper label, with the initials K. K. K. repeated upon it,
and "Letters, memoranda, receipts and a register" written beneath. These, we presume, indicated the
nature of the papers which had been destroyed by Colonel Openshaw. For the rest, there was nothing of
much importance in the attic, save a great many scattered papers and notebooks bearing upon my
uncle's life in America. Some of them were of the war time, and showed that he had done his duty well,
and had borne the repute of being a brave soldier. Others were of a date during the reconstruction of
the Southern States, and were mostly concerned with politics, for he had evidently taken a strong part in
opposing the carpet-bag politicians who had been sent down from the North.

'Well, it was the beginning of '84, when my father came to live at Horsham, and all went as well as
possible with us until the January of '85. On the fourth day after the New Year | heard my father give a
sharp cry of surprise as we sat together at the breakfast-table. There he was, sitting with a newly
opened envelope in one hand and five dried orange pips in the out-stretched palm of the other one. He
had always laughed at what he called my cock-and-bull story about the Colonel, but he looked very
puzzled and scared now that the same thing had come upon himself.

""'Why, what on earth does this mean, John?" he stammered.

'My heart had turned to lead. "It is K. K. K.," said I.

'He looked inside the envelope. "So it is," he cried. "Here are the very letters. But what is this
written above them?"

"Put the papers on the sun-dial," | read, peeping over his shoulder.

""What papers? What sun-dial?" he asked.

"'"The sun-dial in the garden. There is no other," said |; "but the papers must be those that are
destroyed."

"Pooh!" said he, gripping hard at his courage.' "We are in a civilized land here, and we can't have
tomfoolery of this kind. Where does the thing come from?"

"'From Dundee," | answered, glancing at the postmark.

"'Some preposterous practical joke," said he. "What have | to do with sun-dials and papers? | shall
take no notice of such nonsense."

"l should certainly speak to the police," | said.
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"And be laughed at for my pains. Nothing of the sort." ""Then let me do so."
"No, | forbid you. | won't have a fuss made over such nonsense."

"It was in vain to argue with him, for he was a very obstinate man. | went about, however, with a
heart which was full of forebodings.

'On the third day after the coming of the letter my father went from home to visit an old friend of
his, Major Freebody, who is in command of one of the forts upon Portsdown Hill. | was glad that he
should go, for it seemed to me that he was further from danger when he was away from home. In that,
however, | was in error. Upon the second day of his absence | received a telegram from the Major,
imploring me to come at once. My father had fallen over one of the deep chalk-pits which abound in the
neighbourhood, and was lying senseless, with a shattered skull. | hurried to him, but he passed away
without having ever recovered his consciousness. He had, as it appears, been returning from Fareham in
the twilight, and as the country was unknown to him, and the chalk-pit unfenced, the jury had no
hesitation in bringing in a verdict of "Death from accidental causes". Carefully as | examined every fact
connected with his death, | was unable to find anything which could suggest the idea of murder. There
were no signs of violence, no footmarks, no robbery, no record of strangers having been seen upon the
roads. And yet | need not tell you that my mind was far from at ease, and that | was well-nigh certain
that some foul plot had been woven round him.

'In this sinister way | came into my inheritance. You will ask me why | did not dispose of it? | answer
because | was well convinced that our troubles were in some way dependent upon an incident in my
uncle's life, and that the danger would be as pressing in one house as in another.

'It was in January, '85, that my poor father met his end, and two years and eight months have
elapsed since then. During that time | have lived happily at Horsham, and | had begun to hope that this
curse had passed away from the family, and that it had ended with the last generation. | had begun to
take comfort too soon, however; yesterday morning the blow fell in the very shape in which it had come
upon my father.'

The young man took from his waistcoat a crumpled envelope, and, turning to the table, he shook
out upon it five little dried orange pips.

'This is the envelope,' he continued. 'The postmark is London - eastern division. Within are the very
words which were upon my father's last message. "K. K. K."; and then "Put the papers on the sundial".'

'What have you done?' asked Holmes.

'Nothing."'

'Nothing?'

'To tell the truth' - he sank his face into his thin, white hands - 'l have felt helpless. | have felt like
one of those poor rabbits when the snake is writhing towards it. | seem to be in the grasp of some
resistless, inexorable evil, which no foresight and no precautions can guard against."'

"Tut! Tut!" cried Sherlock Holmes. 'You must act, man, or you are lost. Nothing but energy can save
you. This is no time for despair.'

'l have seen the police.'

'Ah?'

'But they listened to my story with a smile. | am convinced that the inspector has formed the
opinion that the letters are all practical jokes, and that the deaths of my relations were really accidents,
as the jury stated, and were not to be connected with the warnings.'

Holmes shook his clenched hands in the air. 'Incredible imbecility!" he cried.

'They have, however, allowed me a policeman, who may remain in the house with me.'

'Has he come with you to-night?"

'No. His orders were to stay in the house.'

Again Holmes raved in the air.
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'Why did you come to me?' he said; 'and, above all, why did you not come at once?'

'l did not know. It was only to-day that | spoke to Major Prendergast about my trouble, and was
advised by him to come to you.'

'It is really two days since you had the letter. We should have acted before this. You have no further
evidence, | suppose, than that which you have placed before us — no suggestive detail which might help
us?'

'There is one thing,' said John Openshaw. He rummaged in his coat pocket, and drawing out a piece
of discoloured, blue-tinted paper, he laid it out upon the table. 'l have some remembrance,' said he,
'that on the day when my uncle burned the papers | observed that the small, unburned margins which
lay amid the ashes were of this particular colour. | found this single sheet upon the floor of his room,
and | am inclined to think that it may be one of the papers which had, perhaps, fluttered out from
among the others, and in that way escaped destruction. Beyond the mention of pips, | do not see that it
helps us much. | think myself that it is a page from some private diary. The writing is undoubtedly my
uncle's.’'

Holmes moved the lamp, and we both bent over the sheet of paper, which showed by its ragged
edge that it had indeed been torn from a book. It was headed 'March, 1869', and beneath were the
following enigmatical notices:—

4th. Hudson came. Same old platform.

7th. Set the pips on McCauley, Paramore, and John Swain of St Augustine.

9th. McCauley cleared.

10th. John Swain cleared.

12th. Visited Paramore. All well.

'Thank you!' said Holmes, folding up the paper and returning it to our visitor. 'And now you must on
no account lose another instant. We cannot spare time even to discuss what you have told me. You
must get home instantly, and act.’

'What shall | do?"

'There is but one thing to do. It must be done at once. You must put this piece of paper which you
have shown us into the brass box which you have described. You must also put in a note to say that all
the other papers were burned by your uncle, and that this is the only one which remains. You must
assert that in such words as will carry conviction with them. Having done this, you must at once put the
box out upon the sun-dial, as directed. Do you understand?'

'Entirely.’

'Do not think of revenge, or anything of the sort, at present. | think that we may gain that by means
of the law; but we have our web to weave, while theirs is already woven. The first consideration is to
remove the pressing danger which threatens you. The second is to clear up the mystery, and to punish
the guilty parties.'

'l thank you,' said the young man, rising, and pulling on his overcoat. 'You have given me fresh life
and hope. | shall certainly do as you advise.'

'Do not lose an instant. And, above all, take care of yourself in the meanwhile, for | do not think that
there can be a doubt that you are threatened by a very real and imminent danger. How do you go back?'

'By train from Waterloo.'

"It is not yet nine. The streets will be crowded, so | trust that you may be in safety. And yet you
cannot guard yourself too closely.'

''am armed."

'"That is well. To-morrow | shall set to work upon your case.'

'l shall see you at Horsham, then?'

'No, your secret lies in London. It is there that | shall seek it.

'Then | shall call upon you in a day, or in two days, with news as to the box and the papers. | shall
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take your advice in every particular.' He shook hands with us, and took his leave. Outside the wind still
screamed, and the rain splashed and pattered against the windows. This strange, wild story seemed to
have come to us from amid the mad elements — blown in upon us like a sheet of sea-weed in a gale -
and now to have been re-absorbed by them once more.

%

Sherlock Holmes sat for some time in silence with his head sunk forward, and his eyes bent upon the
red glow of the fire. Then he lit his pipe, and leaning back in his chair he watched the blue smoke rings
as they chased each other up to the ceiling.

'l think, Watson,' he remarked at last, 'that of all our cases we have had none more fantastic than
this.'

'Save, perhaps, the Sign of Four.'

'Well, yes. Save, perhaps, that. And yet this John Openshaw seems to me to be walking amid even
greater perils than did the Sholtos.'

'But have you,' | asked, 'formed any definite conception as to what these perils are?’

'There can be no question as to their nature,' he answered.

'Then what are they? Who is this K.K.K., and why does he pursue this unhappy family?"

Sherlock Holmes closed his eyes, and placed his elbows upon the arms of his chair, with his finger-
tips together. 'The ideal reasoner,' he remarked, 'would, when he has once been shown a single fact in
all its bearings, deduce from it not only all the chain of events which led up to it, but also all the results
which would follow from it. As Cuvier could correctly describe a whole animal by the contemplation of a
single bone, so the observer who has thoroughly understood one link in a series of incidents, should be
able accurately to state all the other ones, both before and after. We have not yet grasped the results
which the reason alone can attain to. Problems may be solved in the study which have baffled all those
who have sought a solution by the aid of their senses. To carry the art, however, to its highest pitch, it is
necessary that the reasoner should be able to utilize all the facts which have come to his knowledge,
arid this in itself implies, as you will readily see, a possession of all knowledge, which, even in these days
of free education and encyclopedias, is a somewhat rare accomplishment. It is not so impossible,
however, that a man should possess all knowledge which is likely to be useful to him in his work, and
this | have endeavoured in my case to do. If | remember rightly, you on one occasion, in the early days of
our friendship, defined my limits in a very precise fashion.'

'Yes,' | answered, laughing. 'It was a singular document. Philosophy, astronomy, and politics were
marked at zero, | remember. Botany variable, geology profound as regards the mud-stains from any
region within fifty miles of town, chemistry eccentric, anatomy unsystematic, sensational literature and
crime records unique, violin player, boxer, swordsman, lawyer, and self-poisoner by cocaine and
tobacco. Those, | think, were the main points of my analysis.'

Holmes grinned at the last item. 'Well,' he said, say now, as | said then, that a man should keep his
little brain attic stocked with all the furniture that he is likely to use, and the rest he can put away in the
lumber-room of his library, where he can get it if he wants it. Now, for such a case as the one which has
been submitted to us tonight, we need certainly to muster all our resources. Kindly hand me down the
letter K of the American Encyclopedia which stands upon the shelf beside you. Thank you. Now let us
consider the situation, and see what may be deduced from it. In the first place, we may start with a
strong presumption that Colonel Openshaw had some very strong reason for leaving America. Men at
his time of life do not change all their habits, and exchange willingly the charming climate of Florida for
the lonely life of an English provincial town. His extreme love of solitude in England suggests the idea
that he was in fear of someone or something, which drove him from America. As to what it was he
feared, we can only deduce that by considering the formidable letters which were received by himself
and his successors. Did you remark the postmarks of those letters?'

'The first was from Pondicherry, the second from Dundee, and the third from London.'
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'From East London. What do you deduce from that?'

'They are all sea-ports. That the writer was on board a ship.'

'Excellent. We have already a clue. There can be no doubt that the probability - the strong
probability — is that the writer was on board of a ship. And now let us consider another point. In the
case of Pondicherry seven weeks elapsed between the threat and its fulfiiment, in Dundee it was only
some three or four days. Does that suggest anything?'

'A greater distance to travel.'

'But the letter had also a greater distance to come.'

'Then | do not see the point.’

'There is at least a presumption that the vessel in which the man or men are is a sailing ship. It looks
as if they always sent their singular warning or token before them when starting upon their mission. You
see how quickly the deed followed the sign when it came from Dundee. If they had come from
Pondicherry in a steamer they would have arrived almost as soon as their letter. But as a matter of fact
seven weeks elapsed. | think that those seven weeks represented the difference between the mail boat
which brought the letter, and the sailing vessel which brought the writer."

It is possible.'

'More than that. It is probable. And now you see the deadly urgency of this new case, and why |
urged young Openshaw to caution. The blow has always fallen at the end of the time which it would
take the senders to travel the distance. But this one comes from London, and therefore we cannot count
upon delay.'

'Good God!" | cried. 'What can it mean, this relentless persecution?’

'The papers which Openshaw carried are obviously of vital importance to the person or persons in
the sailing ship. | think that it is quite clear that there must be more than one of them. A single man
could not have carried out two deaths in such a way as to deceive a coroner's jury. There must have
been several in it, and they must have been men of resource and determination. Their papers they
mean to have, be the holder of them who it may. In this way you see K.K.K. ceases to be the initials of an
individual, and becomes the badge of a society.'

'But of what society?"

'Have you never—' said Sherlock Holmes, bending forward and sinking his voice — 'have you never
heard of the Ku Klux Klan?'

'l never have.'

Holmes turned over the leaves of the book upon his knee. 'Here it is,' said he presently, "Ku Klux
Klan. A name derived from a fanciful resemblance to the sound produced by cocking a rifle. This terrible
secret society was formed by some ex-Confederate soldiers in the Southern States after the Civil War,
and it rapidly formed local branches in different parts of the country, notably in Tennessee, Louisiana,
the Carolinas, Georgia, and Florida. Its power was used for political purposes, principally for the
terrorizing of the negro voters, and the murdering or driving from the country of those who were
opposed to its views. Its outrages were usually preceded by a warning sent to the marked man in some
fantastic but generally recognized shape — a sprig of oak leaves in some parts, melon seeds or orange
pips in others. On receiving this the victim might either openly abjure his former ways, or might fly from
the country. If he braved the matter out, death would unfailingly come upon him, and usually in some
strange and unforeseen manner. So perfect was the organization of the society, and so systematic its
methods, that there is hardly a case upon record where any man succeeded in braving it with impunity,
or in which any of its outrages were traced home to the perpetrators. For some years the organization
flourished, in spite of the efforts of the United States Government, and of the better classes of the
community in the South. Eventually, in the year 1869, the movement rather suddenly collapsed,
although there have been sporadic outbreaks of the same sort since that date."

'You will observe,' said Holmes, laying down the volume, 'that the sudden breaking up of the society

18



was coincident with the disappearance of Openshaw from America with their papers. It may well have
been cause and effect. It is no wonder that he and his family have some of the more implacable spirits
upon their track. You can understand that this register and diary may implicate some of the first men in
the South, and that there may be many who will not sleep easy at night until it is recovered.'

'Then the page which we have seen-'

'Is such as we might expect. It ran, if | remember right, "sent the pips to A, B, and C" - that is, sent
the society's warning to them. Then there are successive entries that A and B cleared, or left the
country, and finally that C was visited, with, | fear, a sinister result for C. Well, | think, Doctor, that we
may let some light into this dark place, and | believe that the only chance young Openshaw has in the
meantime is to do what | have told him. There is nothing more to be said or to be done tonight, so hand
me over my violin and let us try to forget for half an hour the miserable weather, and the still more
miserable ways of our fellow-men.'

It had cleared in the morning, and the sun was shining with a subdued brightness through the dim
veil which hangs over the great city. Sherlock Holmes was already at breakfast when | came down.

'You will excuse me for not waiting for you,' said he; 'l have, | foresee, a very busy day before me in
looking into this case of young Openshaw's.'

'What steps will you take?' | asked.

"It will very much depend upon the results of my first inquiries. | may have to go down to Horsham
after all.'

'You will not go there first?'

'No, | shall commence with the City Just ring the bell, and the maid will bring up your coffee.

As | waited, | lifted the unopened newspaper from the table and glanced my eye over it. It rested
upon a heading which sent a chill to my heart.

'Holmes,' | cried, 'you are too late.'

'Ah!" said he, laying down his cup, 'l feared as much. How was it done?' He spoke calmly, but | could
see that he was deeply moved.

'My eye caught the name of Openshaw, and the heading "Tragedy near Waterloo Bridge". Here is
the account: "Between nine and ten last night Police Constable Cook, of the H Division, on duty near
Waterloo Bridge, heard a cry for help and a splash in the water. The night, however, was extremely dark
and stormy, so that, in spite of the help of several passers-by, it was quite impossible to effect a rescue.
The alarm, however, was given, and by the aid of the water police, the body was eventually recovered. It
proved to be that of a young gentleman whose name, as it appears from an envelope which was found
in his pocket, was John Openshaw, and whose residence is near Horsham. It is conjectured that he may
have been hurrying down to catch the last train from Waterloo station, and that in his haste and the
extreme darkness, he missed his path and walked — over the edge of one of the small landing-places for
river steamboats. The body exhibited no traces of violence, and there can be no doubt that the
deceased had been the victim of an unfortunate accident, which should have the effect of calling the
attention of the authorities to the condition of the riverside landing-stages."

We sat in silence for some minutes, Holmes more depressed and shaken than | had ever seen him.

'That hurts my pride, Watson,' he said at last. 'lt is a petty feeling, no doubt, but it hurts my pride. It
becomes a personal matter with me now, and, if God sends me health, | shall set my hand upon this
gang. That he should come to me for help, and that | should send him away to his death-!' He sprang
from his chair, and paced about the room - in uncontrollable agitation, with a flush upon his sallow
cheeks, and a nervous clasping and unclasping of his long, thin hands.

'They must be cunning devils,' he exclaimed at last. 'How could they have decoyed him down there?
The Embankment is not on the direct line to the station. The bridge, no doubt, was too crowded, even
on such a night, for their purpose. Well, Watson, we shall see who will win in the long run. | am going
out now!'
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'To the police?"

'No; I shall be my own police. When | have spun the web they may take the flies, but not before.'

All day | was engaged in my professional work, and it was late in the evening before | returned to
Baker Street. Sherlock Holmes had not come back yet. It was nearly ten o'clock before he entered,
looking pale and worn. He walked up to the sideboard, and, tearing a piece from the loaf, he devoured it
voraciously, washing it down with a long draught of water.

'You are hungry,' | remarked.

'Starving. It had escaped my memory. | have had nothing since breakfast.'

'Nothing?'

'Not a bite. | had no time to think of it.'

'And how have you succeeded?'

'Well.'

'You have a clue?'

'l have them in the hollow of my hand. Young Openshaw shall not remain long unavenged. Why,
Watson, let us put their own devilish trade-mark upon them. It is well thought of!'

'What do you mean?'

He took an orange from the cupboard, and tearing it to pieces, he squeezed out the pips upon the
table. Of these he took five, and thrust them into an envelope. On the inside of the flap he wrote, 'S.H.
for J.0.' Then he sealed it and addressed it to 'Captain James Calhoun, Barque Lone Star, Savannah,
Georgia.'

%

'That will await him when he enters port,' said he, chuckling. 'It may give him a sleepless night. He
will find it as sure a precursor of his fate as Openshaw did before him.'

'And who is this Captain Calhoun?'

'The leader of the gang. | shall have the others, but he first.'

'How did you trace it, then?"

He took a large sheet of paper from his pocket, all covered with dates and names.

'l have spent the whole day,' said he, 'over Lloyd's registers and the files of old papers, following the
future career of every vessel which touched at Pondicherry in January and in February in '83. There were
thirty-six ships of fair tonnage which were reported there during those months. Of these, one, the Lone
Star instantly attracted my attention, since, although it was reported as having cleared from London, the
name is that which is given to one of the States of the Union.'

'Texas, | think.'

'l was not and am not sure which; but | knew that the ship must have an American origin.'

'What then?"

'I searched the Dundee records, and when | found that the barque Lone Star was there in January,
'85, my suspicion became a certainty. | then inquired as to vessels which lay at present in the port of
London.'

'Yes?'

'The Lone Star had arrived here last week. | went down to the Albert Dock, and found that she had
been taken down the river by the early tide this morning, homeward bound to Savannah. | wired to
Gravesend, and learned that she had passed some time ago, and as the wind is easterly, | have no doubt
that she is now past the Goodwins, and not very far from the Isle of Wight.'

'What will you do, then?'

'Oh, | have my hand upon him. He and the two mates are, as | learn, the only native-born Americans
in the ship. The others are Finns and Germans. | know also that they were all three away from the ship
last night. | had it from the stevedore, who has been loading their cargo. By the time their sailing ship
reaches Savannah the mail-boat will have carried this letter, and the cable will have informed the police
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of Savannah that these three gentlemen are badly wanted here upon a charge of murder.'

There is ever a flaw, however, in the best laid of human plans, and the murderers of John Openshaw
were never to receive the orange pips which would show them that another, as cunning and resolute as
themselves, was upon their track. Very long and severe were the equinoctial gales of that year. We
waited long for news of the Lone Star of Savannah, but none ever reached us. We did at last hear that
somewhere far out in the Atlantic a shattered sternpost of a boat was seen swinging in the trough of a
wave, with the letters 'L. S.' carved upon it, and that is all which we shall ever know of the fate of the
Lone Star.
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A Pip of an Idea

Early in the Spring of 2017, Cindy Brown and Steve Mason were asked to sort through the personal
effects of one of the founding members of our Society, Bill Beeson. We discovered a previously
unpublished manuscript from Dr. John H. Watson, which shed more light on the mystery of the Five
Orange Pips. The document was provided to Mr. Beeson by a descendent of Dr. Watson, as Bill was the
3" Mate of the Barque Lone Star at the time.

It is believed the manuscript was deliberately written in a more “American” style, as Dr. Watson and Sir

Arthur Conan Doyle intended the sequel to “The Adventure of the Five Orange Pips” to be directed
toward the descendants of the Barque Lone Star, all who resided in the United States.
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“A Pip of an Idea"
by Cindy Brown and Steve Mason

PROLOGUE

For reasons which shall become apparent as readers work through this story, Holmes and |
determined it was not prudent to place the final outcome of this case in the public eye until certain
milestones had passed. As the reader will see, the last milestone occurred earlier in 1921. To ensure
everyone who had direct involvement in this tragedy can no longer suffer the consequences, | am
concealing the following until approximately fifty years have passed. | hope the ultimate recipient of this
narrative will know how to proceed in its publication with compassion and sincerity.

Dr. J. Watson
September, 1921

It was just a week since the tragic events involving John Openshaw, the KKK, and the orange pips
had unfolded unusually for this time of the year; | had no patients scheduled for the day, so |
determined it would be considerate to check in on my friend to see how he was holding up. As | entered
my old lodgings, | took a quick detour to the kitchen to give my best wishes to Mrs. Hudson. | did not
expect the welcome | received.

“Dr. Watson, | am thrilled to see you. You simply must go upstairs and do what you can for that poor
man. | have seen him in some miserable states, but the last few days are the worst | have witnessed.”

A man without a war wound may have taken the steps two at a time, but | took my time, hitting
each tread on my way to the sitting room. | found Holmes staring out the window onto the street below.
“Good to see you, Watson. Join me for an early pipe before Mrs. Hudson assaults us again with a

massive breakfast.”

Being of Scottish ancestry, cooking fabulous meals was never Mrs. Hudson’s long suit, but her fare
was constantly filling and acceptable. However, her scones were beyond compare. Whoever taught her
to make such wonderful delights would have been pleased to see how my eyes lit up whenever she
entered the room with her tray piled high.

“l assume our landlady has beseeched you to attempt to remove me from a foul mood. Before you
say a word, you must know no entreaties on your part will help at this point. | will work through this on
my own. As | said last week, this hurts my pride.”

“Holmes, you have had a week to consider and reconsider the entire episode. What has this self-
reflection and assumed self-incrimination exposed to you?”

“An interesting and innovative method of improving my mood, | must grant you. But | have
concluded there was simply nothing | could have done to keep our client, Mr. Openshaw, from his
demise on that rainy night. The forces behind the captain and his two cohorts would not rest until they
had accomplished the deadly task of removing him from our plane. They could not allow an Openshaw,
even one who may have been completely removed from this entire story, from surviving and possibly
making public the punishment his father and uncle had received.”

We paused to consume the victuals. | prefer adding syrup to the top of my scones, while Holmes
prefers them plain. | may have bested my personal record, finishing off four of the biscuits. | justified my
gluttony by not wanting the extra scones to be wasted, though Holmes quickly pointed out the dog
downstairs might have enjoyed a morsel thrown his way.

After finishing the meal, Holmes returned to the window. | found my old chair next to the fireplace,
which sat dormant on this mild autumn morning.
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“While | fear justice may be slow in transpiring, | have faith the American justice system will take
action once the trio returns to America.”

| sat for several minutes, trying to decide if | should say more, or simply allow things to settle where
they seemingly had when he broke the silence himself.

“Hmm. this is interesting,”

He said suddenly.

“What is?”

“There is a gentleman across the street, most definitely of a nautical nature. He periodically glances
at our residence while furtively looking to the right and left to ensure no one is watching him. Well, now
he has made up his mind and is crossing. | expect we shall have a visitor. Maybe he would enjoy a scone
or two.”

At this point, two sets of steps could be heard on the stairs, and Mrs. Hudson returned to our room,
stating there was a male visitor for Mr. Holmes.

“Show him in. And please, Mrs. Hudson, would you be so kind as to refresh our tea unless our caller
would appreciate something a little stronger, such as rum or other drink, appropriate for a sailor.”

“What led you to that conclusion,” our perplexed guest asked as soon as he joined us.

“It was simple enough to determine your trade from the tar stains on your hands which resulted
from handling tarred rope. Other than that trifling observation, | have not set out to deduce any other
items about you.”

“I'm duly impressed. My name is Franz Mueller. The landlady indicated | have found the residence of
Mr. Holmes, whom | have been seeking since daybreak.”

“You have found him. And this is my esteemed friend and colleague, Dr. Watson. You can speak
freely in his company. His knowledge, loyalty, and determination may prove an asset to your situation.”

| am still not sure the slight cough that emitted from my throat was not an involuntary choking back
of my emotions.

Muller was a small but strong man, with bright eyes and wiry rusty colored hair. His skin, wind-worn
and sun-scorched for many years, gave Mueller a much-aged appearance than his actual age.

“l am presently holding the position of ‘interim Captain’ on a sailing ship, but for years | was... and
am... the Third Mate of the Barque Lone Star, with which | believe Mr. Holmes should be familiar,”
Mueller said.

“That’s simply not possible,” | blurted out. “We were informed your ship had departed and is
presently on course back to America.”

“Watson, | am genuinely as shocked as you are at this revelation, but | suggest we hold our thoughts
until Captain, or Mister, Mueller has related his tale, Holmes interjected. | suspect he has much to tell us
about what has actually happened since the death of John Openshaw.

“Mr. Holmes, random thoughts may sometimes escape my brain and spill out of my mouth before
my brain has a chance to catch them. Such loose thoughts could possibly cause me harm in this case. It
would be in my, and possibly your, best interests to choose my words most carefully.”

| poured a snifter of rum for our visitor. Holmes declined the offer for himself, and not being a
fanatic for that strong of a spirit, | chose brandy from one of the three decanters in the tantalus on the
sideboard. In my mind, | knew it was a little early for a drink, but | reminded myself somewhere in the
world it was evening.

“Mr. Holmes, Mr. Watson, | have learned from a friend in the local shipping office you have done
some investigating of this incident in the past, so | will not bore you with the nature and history of our
ship. | will start from the point where you will get enough salient facts to determine the right course of
action. “Just two days after the Lone Star left London, headed back to our homeland, following the
death of John Openshaw, the Second Mate of the ship, a Mister Sutterman, became ripping drunk that
night and admitted to me the true mission of the captain, the first mate, and the second mate of the

24



ship. As | believe you have discovered, these three men were not the regular officers of the ship, but had
replaced the previous officers a few years ago, in the fall of 1884. They had laid their plan long in
advance and were on a mission to carry it out no matter the outcome. They were absolutely ruthless,
and determination was their driving force.

“After another sip of the rum, these officers were, in actuality, assigned the mission of retrieving
documents held by Elias Openshaw, which were a record of the more heinous activities of the Ku Klux
Klan, or as you may know it, the KKK, in the United States. The documents included the names and
positions held by the highest members of the society. Their attempt at retrieving the records from Elias
Openshaw met with disdain, as he responded tersely that he would never return the documents. He felt
the documents were security from any actions that the organization might try to take against him.

“Thus, Captain Calhoun, in March 1887, directed an emissary in Pondicherry, India, to send
Openshaw an envelope containing five orange pips. Thus, for Openshaw, his days were numbered. “The
Pondicherry, India postmark was designed to give Openshaw a false sense he had much more time to
take precautions to keep himself safe.

Elias Openshaw’s life was taken in just seven short weeks after the Lone Star reached port in
Portsmouth, and the three officers had gone to Horsham in Sussex. The dastardly trio ensured the death
appeared a suicide, or even accidental, as | believe was ultimately ruled. As you can guess, the society
was cunning and not about to be thwarted.

At this point, Mueller took a long drink of the biting liquid before continuing his narrative. Not once
did Holmes or | feel the need to stop him with a comment or question.

“The Lone Star then departed from England and made several cargo stops between the continent,
Scotland, Ireland, and northern England. The captain and the first and second mates continued to lay
their plans to retrieve the documents, no matter what the cost.

“In late December 1884, the ship landed in Dundee, Scotland. The three officers disembarked and
headed south to Portsmouth. And, again, a letter was dispatched to Horsham a couple of days later from
Dundee, asking for the relevant papers to be placed on the sundial of the Openshaw estate.

“Once the captain found Elias’ brother, Joseph Openshaw, had not complied with the directive, as
no papers were found at the sundial. He and the other two officers pursued Mister Openshaw and
ensured he also met his death in a seemingly accidental fashion. A careless footfall into a chalk pit had
resulted in a smashed skull, and Joseph Openshaw had died, without uttering another word, in just a
few short days.

“And the inheritance of this evil was now passed down to John Openshaw, the last surviving male
heir.

“The Lone Star immediately departed and made runs between England, the Far East, and Africa for
the next two and one-half years, and the three officers maintained a low and insignificant profile in
every port they entered.

“In September 1887, the Lone Star once again arrived in London, and a letter was dispatched to
young Mister Openshaw, again demanding the return of the papers. Openshaw, however, seems to
have reacted to this mystery in a different manner than his uncle and his father. He took the ominous
warning seriously.

“On September 28, the Lone Star arrived in Horsham, and the three officers were again frustrated to
find no papers were left on the sundial.

“They followed John Openshaw to London on the following day, trailing him to this very front door.
It was quickly determined it was the residence of a private detective, Sherlock Holmes. The trio decided
they must take decisive action immediately and without recourse. They overtook Openshaw shortly
after he left your home. Openshaw’s body was recovered from the river near the Waterloo Bridge
within a few hours. Since there were no signs of violence, it was doubtful the police would pursue any
conclusion other than death by misfortune.
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“And here, Mr. Holmes, is where the story takes an unexpected turn. Before young Openshaw was
thrown into the river, he claimed all the papers had been destroyed by his uncle, Elias, in the family
residence’s fireplace. However, the lad was unaware of one crucial piece of information. Elias Openshaw
had personally kept one list of names from being destroyed. He believed this single page would protect
his family from further persecution and had hidden the list somewhere on the grounds of the estate.
Mr. Sutterman did not disclose how this secret was obtained.

“After relating this tale of terror to me, the second mate had returned to his cabin and promptly
passed out for the night. Knowing the captain and first mate were also dead drunk. | pulled together the
rest of the crew and passed on the information | had gained from Sutterman. As you can imagine, the
crew were horrified to learn their captain and his first and second mates were involved in such an
undertaking. Though seamen have a reputation for not being saints, | can promise our crew is one of the
most honorable. After much discussion, the crew voted unanimously to mutiny and took control of the
ship from the captain. The three scoundrels were aroused from their slumber, and a speedy trial was
held. They were found guilty of disgracing the Lone Star, as we felt we had no real authority to try them
on the charge of murder. But we also recognized if the three were returned to the States, the powers
that had placed them on our ship would ensure they never were held responsible for their actions in
England. As a matter of fact, | believe if you were to check with the Georgia Registry of Ships, you would
find no mention of our barque, as the name has been scrubbed from the lists. The captain actually
laughed in my face when | told him we would return him to England for trial. We quickly recognized the
only way to carry out any proper punishment would involve sailing out in the direction of the open sea.
The decided penalty, though harsh, was to put the three offenders overboard, allowing Providence to
determine their fate.

“We would have then proceeded homeward, but for one final item, which brings me to your door.
While inebriated, Sutterman indicated there was one last family member to be dealt with. This
individual would not receive the luxury of a warning or direction but would be killed so the captain could
search the house for the final list with no impedance. | told Sutterman, just before | personally tossed
him overboard, that our actions would at least save one innocent soul. Calhoun repeated his chuckling,
boldly stating there was a confederate in England who had been given this final mission. So our actions
aboard the ship would be for naught. Once the punishment was meted out, the crew voted to return to
London, and | acceded to the task of warning you of the impending fate of the final family member.

| had to admit at this point, | was a little confused. “Who is this remaining family member. Another
son or brother?”

“Neither Dr. Watson. John Openshaw left behind a widow and a small child. There are no other
living relatives in England.”

It was evident from Holmes’s reaction this was news to him as well as myself.

“Mr. Holmes, what do we do next?”

“My course of action is apparent. | shall waste no time in departing for the rail station. Watson, will
your practice allow you a day or two to accompany me? Good, then that is settled. Mr. Mueller, please
return to your ship and immediately leave London. Follow your original plan to return to the United
States. Land at Galveston under the name “The Lone Star.” By the time you arrive, | hope to be able to
transmit news this issue has been successfully solved. ”

“Thank you for that advice. We shall depart this afternoon. The crew will be grateful to finally return
to their homeland — the Germans to the Central Texas area, and the Finns to the midwestern part of the
States.”

“Come, Watson,” said Holmes, “we have no time to spare.”

v

Not even taking time to pack any belongings, Holmes and | caught the first hansom cab we could

flag down on Baker Street. Fortunately, the precipitation | had noted earlier in the morning had
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dissipated entirely. A sovereign ensured record-setting time to Waterloo Station, splashing through
numerous mud and water puddles along the way, where we caught the first train to Horsham. Our
arrival before lunch was followed by a short, hired trap ride to the Openshaw household. A black
mourning wreath greeted us at the front door of the two-story residence. One could forgive the
beginning signs of neglect on the house and the surrounding ground.

A knock at the door was answered by a kindly, but saddened maid. We were then escorted to the
study, where we awaited the mistress of the house. Mrs. Openshaw was a tall, fair woman with very
kind eyes, although it was evident -- with her dress made of simple black bombazine and trimmed with
crape, which | knew to be very coarse and scratchy -- she was in deep mourning.

Holmes proceeded to give Mrs. Openshaw a full account of all that had transpired, including what
John Openshaw had said in the preceding week.

“Mr. Holmes, this is just so overwhelming. While my husband had discussed his beliefs on the
deaths of his father and uncle, many of the details concerning the KKK, and my uncle’s role, were left
out.”

“With the deaths of the captain and his two comrades, the threat to you may have subsided or
completely dissipated. Maybe the confederate left behind will have second thoughts”, | suggested.

“Dr. Watson, while | wish that were true, it would not explain what | received just a couple of hours
ago by post.”

Holmes sprang from his chair, took the cream-coloured envelope from her grasp, and moved to the
window to examine it carefully.

“A Portsmouth postmark. No other identifying marks on the outside. Though | can presume, let’s see
what the interior contains. | believe this to be similar to what your husband and his relatives received.
Yes, a message on the inner flap... ‘Leave your house by midnight and never return unless you want
harm to befall you and the child. This includes all staff. Do not solicit any assistance from outside forces.
Take only what you need to survive, and leave all items belonging to the previous residents of the
house.””

Holmes turned the envelope over, and five orange pips settled onto his open hand.

“Mr. Holmes, what should | do at this point?”

“Ma’am, you are showing amazing resilience considering what you have endured to this point. From
what | gathered from Mueller, the powers that be in the United States will not rest until they obtain the
list of names for which they so desperately are searching. Our priority should be to focus on your
family’s safety and finding that list. Please search your memory. Is there anything your father-in-law or
husband may have said, even in passing, that could lead us to the list?”

“I have no idea of such a list, or where my uncle would have hidden it. | know my late husband and
father-in-law had found a brass box in the attic which may have contained the papers these creatures
are searching for. My husband subsequently destroyed the other papers found in the attic over a year
ago. | place the safety of my child in your hands.”

“Take the next several hours to prepare for a departure by sunset, as directed in the missive. We will
accompany you to London, where we will determine the best course once you have been removed from
immediate danger. While you make your preparations, Watson and | will search the house to see if we
may gain any insight into what garners so much attention.”

Mrs. Openshaw left us to tell the two staff members left in the house of the impending plans.

“Watson, | believe we can discard any search of the outside of the house and surrounding grounds. |
presume the trio has already picked over those to ensure nothing was secreted away in an outbuilding
or other concealment. Fortunately, the house is not extremely large, with a minimum of rooms. A quick
search of each room should be accomplished within a few hours.

Though the home, which was at least two hundred years old, had been on the Openshaw estate
since the early 1700s, there were surprisingly few nooks and crannies where a one-page document
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could be hidden. After two hours, our search had not produced any document.

As we stood on the stairwell leading to the upper floor, Holmes glanced at the framed photos and
other documents hanging on the wall. As his gaze fell on one framed set of papers, he quickly scanned
them and then moved on, only to return to the frame in question. After a minute or two, a small
enigmatical smile crossed his countenance.

“Watson, early in our acquaintance you compared me to Dupin from Poe’s literary work. | believe |
remarked Dupin to be a very inferior fellow at the time, though he did have some little analytical genius
to support his work. While I still hold that opinion, | will give him one slight credit when he determined
the perfect hiding place for an object may be to leave it in full open view for all to overlook.”

Holmes removed the frame from the wall and carried it to a desk.

| asked, “Holmes, do you recognize the document?”

“l do not. It is titled ‘The Cornerstone Address.” Does that ring a bell for you, Watson?”

“As a matter of fact, it does. If | am not mistaken, that was a speech given by Alexander H. Stephens,
Vice President of the Confederate States of America, in March 1861. The speech laid out the rationale
for the secession of the southern states from the Union. | believe the speech was delivered
extemporaneously a few weeks before the Civil War began, defending slavery and explaining the
fundamental differences between the constitutions of the Confederate States and the United States,
enumerating contrasts between Union and Confederate ideologies, and laying out the Confederacy's
rationale for seceding from the United States.”

Holmes removed a pad and pencil from the desk drawers and asked for an hour of quiet to focus on
the words in the frame. He suggested | check on Mrs. Openshaw and ensure the two staff members
were also progressing well in their efforts.

In just under an hour, Holmes called me and revealed a list with 32 names of men, all presumably in
the United States and of some import.

“Once | recognized the importance of this speech to what we were searching for, it was fairly easy to
produce the intended list. Take a look at the framed speech, and tell me what you can determine from
it.”

| took the frame from Holmes, which held two sheets of tiny typed print. After a few minutes, |
started to hand the document back to Holmes.

“I read through the entire speech, and | honestly did not discern any clues to which you have
obviously found.”

“Let’s try it again. But this time, do not scan your eyes over the entire words of the text, as most
routinely do, but as | have told you so many times, focus on the little things, such as the individual
letters.”

Within a minute, | began to understand what Holmes had identified.

“Many of the letters are different from the others.”

“Correct. Let’s look at the first paragraph. You have noted several letters are of a different font than
the rest of the letters in the paragraph.”

Thus the paragraph ran this way:

When perfect quiet is restored, | shall proceed. | cannot speak, so long as there is any noise
or confusion. | shall take my time | feel quite prepared to spend the night with you if necessary.

“As you can see,” Holmes explained, “from just these first two lines, | have been able to pull out the
letters that are different.”

PETERHALLDEHENRYMEIERPA
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“Once | determined the underlined letters indicated the end of the word, it was easy to piece
together the list of 32 names.

Peter Hall, DE
Henry Meier, PA

“l would find it extremely surprising and disappointing if this list does not represent persons in the
States who hold significant positions without it being publicly known of their previous affiliations.”

“Holmes, while most of the names are found in six southern states, there is a handful from two
northern states, including the first two. | thought the KKK was contained within the South.”

“From my research, it was, but after its sudden demise in 1869, many members left the South to
begin again in the North, hoping their anonymity would shield them from their past sins.”

“Holmes, when this is over, | insist on absolute rest once we get back to Baker Street and ensure
Mrs. Openshaw and her daughter’s safety. | am not convinced you have completely recovered your self-
inflicted efforts to ‘kill yourself’ which resulted in the successful apprehension of Dr. Culverton Smith.

“Holmes, you have done brilliantly. Let me take the list, place it in a waterproof pouch, and place it
on the sundial, ending this nightmare for the family once and for all.”

“l appreciate your willingness to do so, but | am not convinced releasing the list will remove the
danger to Mrs. Openshaw or her daughter. Let me take a little more time to consume some tobacco and
mull over the various options afforded to us, if any. In the meantime, | will replace the speech in its
former place.

“We must not forget there is still someone who knows of the family and the details of their lives.
Otherwise, how was the KKK still able to stay on their trail after so many years after Elias left the United
States? Even after the deaths of all the male family members, they continue to pursue the surviving
members. Why would they even care anymore, after so many years? It is obvious the powers behind all
of this mayhem still fear her as a threat to them, and will continue to be such as long as she breathes.
She may have even made several copies of the list for all they know before she deigned to return it to
their dirty clutches. For now, let’s leave our little discovery to ourselves.”

While Holmes was hanging the frame in question, | proceeded upstairs to retrieve Mrs. Openshaw,
lying quietly by her daughter in the little girl’s bed. Even though exhausted, | could see her eyes were
wide open, repeatedly glancing at the small bedroom window. We were soon seated with Holmes at the
worktable in the warm cozy kitchen. She showed herself to be a very strong person, not easily
frightened, and with good judgment. Holmes, | could see, was genuinely touched by her complete trust
in his protection, thus possibly relieving him a little of the guilt for his perceived failure to protect her
husband.

Our discussion was interrupted by the maid, who announced the arrival of another gentleman.

“Oh my goodness, | am so sorry Mr. Fordham, with all that has occurred this morning, | completely
forgot your intended visit. Mr. Holmes, Dr. Watson, this is the family’s solicitor, Mr. Fordham. He has
been helping me settle my husband’s will and the potential sale of the house and land.”

“Mr. Holmes, it is indeed a pleasure to meet you and your partner, though | wish they could have
been under better circumstances. May | ask what brings you to Horsham and to the home of Mrs.
Openshaw?”

Holmes gave a very brief summary of our involvement to this point, including the visit earlier this
morning by Mueller, as well as the delivery of the envelope and directive to the Openshaw residence
this morning.

“This is distressing news. However, | cannot but admire the actions of the crew. Their actions may
indeed help bring this entire story to a conclusion.”

“Indeed, sir. It was brought to my attention that you received a visit from the murderous trio the
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very afternoon of John Openshaw’s death.”

“1 did. They were very straightforward, telling me they knew | had connections to the family, and
what did | know concerning any remaining papers Elias Openshaw may have kept. | initially was not
going to yield any such information. Still, it was pointed out that while | did not have any close relatives
here in England, family members back in the United States may suffer consequences if | did not relent.
Fortunately, all | knew was Elias had kept a list of names and locations of some very powerful people in
the States, and he had never revealed to me the location of the list. The trio seemed to accept this and
left, after binding me with a promise to not discuss the matter with anyone and to take no action to
dissuade their course. Severe repercussions would result in a violation of this pledge. | felt the death of
John Openshaw, which | read about a few days later, would be the end of this tragedy. | am so sorry,
Mrs. Openshaw. It appears the web has entangled you into its threads.”

The four of us discussed our next moves, which involved Holmes and | taking Mrs. Openshaw and
her daughter to London, where we would secure her in a hotel for the night before secreting the two
out of town. Once the estate was sold, and all transactions finalized with the support of Mr. Fordham,
the funds would be used to permanently relocate the surviving members of the Openshaw family onto
the continent where they could start life afresh.

“Watson, the mother, daughter, and | will leave at sunset. The two staff members will have the
house completely closed up, their personal effects packed, and able to leave by no later than eight
o’clock. This should appease our unknown ‘confederate.’””

“Should we alert the local constabulary of what is occurring?” interjected Fordham.

“No, the note was very clear on this point. | do not want to jeopardize the safety of our charges by
violating the provisions of the demand. Mrs. Openshaw, after we leave this place, remove it from your
mind, never consider revenge on those who have caused such injustice to your family — as | advised your
husband, and raise your daughter to believe the deaths were accidental, and nothing more.”

“Mr. Holmes, those are words of wisdom,” replied Fordham. “Ma’am, | will do everything within my
power to ensure you stay protected, your needs are met, and you can find a place to raise your daughter
safely. Mr. Holmes, | will contact you the day after tomorrow to pass on the details of the will and
potential buyers.”

“Before you leave, may | look at the will left by John Openshaw, which | assume you have in the
pouch you are carrying. It may be useful for me to understand the basics of the provisions of the will.”

Fordham pulled out the document and handed it over to Holmes.

“His handwriting seems very clear... it does not appear he was under any undue stress at the time he
wrote it. Oh, | see it was dated a few weeks before his death.”

“Actually, he asked me to write out the will, as his handwriting skills were, in his own words,
‘abysmal.’ That is his signature at the bottom, as well as the signatures of witnesses who he had brought
to my office. It is all in order, and we should have no problem finalizing its resolution.”

“Oh, | agree. ltis all in perfect order. It should help resolve this mystery sooner than later.”

“How so?” | asked. “Oh never mind, just a slight rambling on my part. Pay no heed.”

Once Fordham had tucked the document back into the pouch, he took his leave to return to his
office. Holmes then proceeded to call in the maid to discuss what was transpiring and the next steps to
be taken. It was apparent she was totally loyal to her mistress and was willing to follow what
instructions Holmes could provide.

| need not provide too many details on our departure from the house, but just before sunset, the
four of us were on the road back to Horsham. We arrived at the train station just as the first stars
appeared in the darkening sky. | obtained tickets for a private car for the first train to depart the station
while Holmes busied himself dispatching at least two telegrams.

Once Mrs. Openshaw and her daughter were safely seated, Holmes turned to me and gave me
another surprise, not the first of the day.
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“Watson, our job is not completed here. Mrs. Openshaw, | must apologize, but we will be secreting
ourselves off the train, in case anyone is watching. | have wired my landlady, who will have a hansom
cab waiting for you at the station in London. The cabbie will have instructions to deliver you safely to a
hotel, where you and your daughter will stay the night. Do not worry about expenses, all that has been
taken care of. We will meet you in time for lunch or dinner tomorrow at the hotel. | believe this incident
will be resolved by that time.”

“Holmes, how can we ensure they will be safe at the hotel.”

“l have made provisions to ensure the front and back doors of the hotel will be watched at all times,
as well as two sets of eyes watching their room throughout the night and the next day. Trust me, the
Irregulars will ensure a very rough go of it for anyone trying to reach them.”

With that, we made our way to the back of the train and exited to the side opposite the station.
With darkness now enveloping the entire area, no one could have espied our departure.

“Watson, forgive me, but | believe we must go by foot at this point. Attempting to secure any type
of conveyance could jeopardize my plans. | know you have been a trooper to this point, forgoing both
lunch and dinner. | hope Mrs. Watson’s scones are still sustaining you. | vow to make up your lack of
nourishment tomorrow.”

Fortunately, it was only approximately three miles to the house from the station, and so in less than
one hour we were crouching behind a set of hedges near the driveway. A few lights could still be seen in
the lower windows. A manned dog-cart sat just outside the front door.

“Good, we have arrived before the staff have left. Once they have secured the house and left, we
shall proceed.”

“Proceed to what?”

“Probably wait for a few hours, but be prepared to snare our ‘unknown confederate.””

True enough, the last light was extinguished just before eight o'clock, and | could barely make out
the maid and cook leaving from the front door. Two or three small valises were loaded, the passengers
climbed aboard, and the cart made its way down the driveway to the main road, disappearing from
sight.

“Quickly, Watson, let’s make our way to the rear of the house, where we should be able to gain
access.”

Using the hedges as cover, we proceeded to secret ourselves to the back.

“l assume you shall do a little lockpicking again, as you have done in the past?”

“No, this time it only took a whisper to the maid.”

Holmes opened the door, which had been left unlocked for us to gain quick entrance to the
premises. Once inside, we moved to the sitting room near the stairway.

“l do not believe we will have long to wait, but | shall ask we stay fairly quiet and out of sight behind
these items of furniture. Holmes had brought a dark lantern, which he closed once we gained position
and would be able to be reopened when needed.

As always, Holmes’s assumption was correct, and within approximately 30 minutes | could hear a
key being used on the front door. Once the door was opened and closed, a small light (I assumed a small
lantern) gave off sufficient light for our visitor to locate and light a few table lamps.

The intruder headed directly to the staircase and proceeded to remove the frame and speech from
its place. As his focus was on the prize he had worked so hard to obtain, he did not notice Holmes
quietly walk up from behind with a pistol drawn from his coat pocket.

“Mr. Fordham, this simply will not do. Slowly place the frame on the stairs, put your hands up, and
back into the sitting room. No, do not try to run or bull-rush us! Fine, now take a seat. We have a few
minutes to ourselves.”

“How could you possibly know my involvement? You have no evidence to support any half-baked
theories you may have.”
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“Simplicity itself. Your name is on the list. | suspected you would take whatever action necessary to
retrieve the list to protect yourself and your compatriots. Look at paragraph 2, and look closely at the
letters, as | suggested to Watson here earlier today.”

Seven States have within the last three months thrown off an old government and formed a
new. This revolution has been signally marked, up to this time, by the fact of its having been
accomplished...

STEVENFORDHAMEFL

From his puzzled expression, it was easy to see Fordham couldn’t imagine how anyone could
possibly have known all this. With his mind racing on how to escape from this trap, he did not even take
the time to wonder how Holmes knew his name was on the list.

“This proves nothing. Just because my name is somehow marked into a speech given years ago. As a
solicitor, | can tell you your evidence is flimsy at best.”

“You may be correct. However, you have provided us with the best evidence yourself. Watson will
tell you | have developed a small monograph on the use of handwriting in determining a guilty party.
Though a more thorough examination could prove it, | am sure, but a quick perusal of the will today,
which you admitted, was in your own hand. It was extremely similar to the writing on the envelope
received by Mrs. Openshaw this morning. | assume you traveled down to Portsmouth to post the letter
in the past day or two. This was extremely sloppy work on your part, but after assisting in three previous
failed attempts, | am sure the people you are working for in the U.S. are becoming slightly impatient
with no successful results.

“Watson, if you will open the front door, | believe representatives of the local force have arrived to
take Mr. Fordham into custody. We may be too late to catch a train back to London tonight, but | believe
we can be back in time to keep our appointment for lunch with our clients.”

v

After the constable took our prisoner into custody. Holmes gave him a brief outline of the actions of
Mr. Fordham, suggesting he be held for now on a charge of breaking and entry. Not once did Fordham
open his mouth, choosing to stay quiet and hoping to secure his freedom through legal maneuvers in
the near future.

Later that evening, Holmes and | sat down to a very late supper at a small tavern and inn in
Horsham.

“Alright, Holmes, you must now share with me how you knew what was transpiring today, and who
was involved?

“1 hate to disappoint you, dear friend, but this case will not involve any ‘tricks up my sleeve,” slick
deductions, or mystical surprises. | was just as much in the dark as you were until we discovered the
speech and the list embedded within the text. Once | discovered Fordham’s name was included, it
simply made sense he was our ‘unknown confederate.’ | believe not only had Elias Openshaw told
Fordham of the list, but where to find it. Notice how he went directly to it once he entered the house
this evening, though we had not told him of its secrets.

“Once | had determined Fordham’s name was indeed on the list and was from the same state Elias
had immigrated from, | suspected he would not allow much time to elapse before trying to retrieve it. A
few years ago, | had mused, ‘...When a doctor does go wrong, he is the first of the criminals. He has
nerve, and he has knowledge.” | append it to suggest that when a solicitor becomes crooked, he is the
second of criminals. He has the trust of his clients and can harm them for life.”

The following midday found us at the small restaurant within the hotel Holmes had chosen for the
Openshaws. The young daughter was at 221b Baker Street, enjoying Mrs. Hudson’s kitchen treats.
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Holmes had assured Mrs. Openshaw they were now safe, and the child and Mrs. Hudson were under the
watchful eyes of several Irregulars.

As lunch progressed, the three of us spoke about finding the list and the actions of the British
government since the list’s discovery. Mrs. Openshaw expressed disappointment over the involvement
of her husband’s uncle in such a degrading society as the KKK and was happy to see this list might yet
assist in putting an end to this type of activity in the United States.

“I must admit | am surprised at finding out who the mysterious man was. Mr. Fordham had been
such a long-time family friend and solicitor for the family. | should have been suspicious of his strong
interest in our family affairs, especially those concerning the house, since John’s death. He constantly
called on me and asked questions | felt were somewhat inappropriate and intrusive, even for a family
solicitor and friend. | am much relieved to hear he will no longer be bothering my family.”

“Mrs. Openshaw, unless | have completely lost my ability to determine the outcome of certain
actions, | believe your worries should be over in all manner regarding this mysterious document.

| visited an associate within the Foreign Ministry early this morning, who was able to bring the
matter to the attention of the Foreign Minister. That very powerful individual is reaching out to
counterparts in the United States via telegram. Both countries agree the matter should have their
utmost and immediate attention. | have been assured a proposed solution will be forthcoming and
acceptable to both nations.

“As | had surmised the night we found the list hidden within the infamous speech, the 32 names on
the list represented men who held positions of power from a local district attorney to a lieutenant
governor. Why were they on the list? Each was a KKK member but only secretly and had never publicly
announced an affiliation with the organization.

“Almost all men were in areas where such a revelation would not be favorable for their careers,
especially since the South had failed to secede from the Union. The nation continues to attempt to heal
from the wounds of bigotry and inequality.

“I have assurances each of the 32 men will be receiving a letter from an appropriately high-level
person within the U.S. government, suggesting a certain list is now securely in the hands of the British
government, where it will stay safely locked away, providing a few conditions are met.

“First, Mrs. Openshaw and her daughter are to be released from all concerns of further persecution,
and sufficient compensation afforded them for the misery they have suffered as a result of the actions
of those in the United States.

“Second, each of the 32 men must accept unconditionally that all other papers held by Elias
Openshaw have been destroyed, so no other efforts should be initiated to retrieve such papers.

“Third, all crew of the Barque Lone Star are allowed to return to the United States to their
respective homes, with no threat of reprisals, and with sufficient compensation to return to a normal
life.

“If any of these conditions are breached in the future, all agreements are voided, and the list will be
made available to those in the United States with the power and authority to deal with the matter
promptly and severely.”

The one condition Holmes did not discuss in front of Mrs. Openshaw was regarding Mr. Fordham. He
had been such a scoundrel with the matters at hand and had placed Mrs. Openshaw and Victoria’s life in
danger a number of times; Holmes wanted to be sure he was dealt with sufficiently. Holmes had made
arrangements for Fordham to return to the United States under guard. But once he reached Galveston,
he would disembark a free man. However, Holmes also made sure his confederates within the States
knew precisely where Fordham would be disembarking and at what time. Holmes was sure they would
not be pleased with Fordham’s performance, being the final person to let them down by not delivering
the list, and was in a very small part responsible for the ultimate crumbling and demise of their society’s
power over certain parts of the South. Holmes indicated they could do with Fordham what they saw fit. |
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do not believe Holmes ever felt any pangs of guilt for being instrumental in ensuring this last condition
was met swiftly and permanently.

Epilogue

| must provide a few closing items to this narrative.

First, months after the conclusion, Holmes was informed by the State of Georgia that all mentions of
the Lone Star had been mysteriously redacted or removed from all shipping registries within the state.

It was not until several years later Holmes revealed to me the identity of his source in the
government who assisted Holmes after we had retrieved the coded names and the capture of Fordham.
It was none other than his older brother, Mycroft Holmes, who had brought the entire matter to the
attention of the Home Secretary, where it then received full attention from the highest level of
government on both sides of the Atlantic.
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The Seed is Planted

Early in 1970, at the University of Texas at Arlington, a young lady working as the reference librarian,
discovered a trifling monograph on German settlements in Texas in the rare archives section. The
pamphlet, enclosed in a bound leather satchel, had been tucked behind several other books, almost as if
done on purpose.

Francine Morris took the monograph back to her desk within the library to see what little nuggets
she might find within its pages. And what a nugget she found contained in the satchel, along with the
monograph.

Tucked between two pages was a rumpled and stained letter, obviously written by an elderly person.
You can only imagine how Francine’s eyes grew as she read through the missive, written 50 years earlier,
which gave an account of the disappearance of the Barque Lone Star and its crew in 1887.

It should be noted in the records of the Cedar Cemetery, previously known as the Lewis Cemetery, in
La Grange, Fayette County, Texas, is a grave marker for:

Mueller, Franz J.

Born: 8/5/1858

Died: 7/29/1921

Son of: Charles and Therese Mueller
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To Whosoever May Find This:

As | lay here breathing what are most likely my last breaths, | find it essential that | set straight the story
of my ship and her crew. | have placed this manuscript in this battered tin sea chest, one of my last
remaining possessions. For you see, | am not a man of wealth, but | am man who must set the record
straight.

| have read the adventures of the Great Detective, as they have been made available through the Strand
Magazine and others. | have held an especially keen interest in these stories by the author John H.
Watson, MD, as one | was a small part of one of the tales he sets forth.

The Barque Lone Star did not come to an end as told in the “Adventure of the Five Orange Pips.”

He tells the story as the public generally believes it happened. My shipmates and | are the ones who
spread that story, in the hopes that it would be generally regarded as the truth. With the publication of
the good doctor’s story, we were home free.

| have been reluctant to tell this story before, as it starts with mutiny on the high seas. A mutiny in which
| was a part. But, it has preyed upon my conscious such that my dying breaths must reveal the truth.

It started with the Third Mate. He was tall, thin and had a profile like a bird of prey. What’s more, he was
good with his fists and was never known to back down from a fight.

This is important, because | am not sure exactly how it all began, being just a seaman myself. But the
end result found Captain James Calhoun and his two mates killed during our mutiny.

The Third Mate brought the ship to the shores of Texas. He gathered a small crew of volunteers as a
scuttling crew and set to sea the rest of the crew, we Germans and some Fins, ashore on the coast of
Texas. He and the scuttling crew sailed the Barque into an ocean current that would carry the wreckage
far away and scuttled it with explosives. The third mate and the scuttling crew made it back to Texas,
and ever since, it has been the first duty of the Third Mate to find the lost members of the crew of the
Barque Lone Star.

Weritten by my hand, on this day the seventh of January, in the year of our Lord nineteen hundred and
twenty one.

Franz J. Mueller

Le Grange, Fayette County, Texas
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An Idea Comes Together

As Sherlockians may only imagine, the letter stirred a passion in Francine Morris. With the assistance
of John Bennett Shaw, one of the pre-eminent Sherlockians of his generation, Francine soon held an
organizational meeting to discuss the possibility of creating a Society dedicated to the reuniting of the
descendants of the crew of the Barque Lone Star.

Two other avid Sherlockians, Bill Beeson and Bullitt Lowry shared Francine’s passion, and thus, the
last wishes of Franz Mueller to reassemble the last crew members of the Barque Lone Star, became their

mission.

Early in the Autumn of 1970, Francine Morris distributed an invitation to the first cruise of the Crew
of the Barque Lone Star Society.

Fortunately, Francine typed almost all of her correspondence, so there is documentation of the
contents of that invitation, although the list of invitees did not survive.
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The bark LONE STAR, a barely organized scion of the Baker Street Irregulars, welcomes any and all
admirers of Mr. Sherlock Holmes to join her crew for the fall cruise.

She will sail at two bells in the second dogwatch* from the Farmer’s Daughter pier** in Fort Worth.
Grog will be available for all hands***, and we will dine from the menu. Following dinner, we will have
an illuminating address by John Bennett Shaw, BSI, on the cult and culture of Sherlock Holmes, and sign
the ship’s log.

Reservation by Guy Fawkes Day PLEASE !!!

* 6:30, dinner at 7:30

** 1536 S. University
*** cash bar

Francine

Margaret F. Morris, acting 2d mate
Library
Univ. of Texas at Arlington

Arlington, TX 76010

(817) 275-3211 or 261-8461 (direct Dallas Line)

38



That Ship Has Sailed

On Friday, November 6, 1970, the first cruise of the Barque Lone Star set sail in Fort Worth, Texas. The
following is a letter sent by Francine Morris to John Bennett Shaw, summarizing the successful meeting.

There is also the notice sent by Francine Morris to the Baker Street Journal concerning the meeting.

Finally, an excerpt from a letter to an interested prospective member by Francine Morris on the Society’s
calling
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11 November, 1970
Dear John,

Or maybe | should address you as “Shattered Stern-Post.” Among other things, we decided that thee
speaker of the evening should be known as “Shattered Stern-Post”. At any rate, we got the LONE STAR
well and truly launched down the Trinity with a grand total of 13 at table (HORRO).

One was a guest, so | suppose we’re safe. | conned Sandra Myres into reading your paper, which she
did with much skill. You were accorded a standing toast in New York Burgundy — we were out of
California, but by that time of the evening, the best some could manage was to raise a glass. This is one
reason we dubbed Sandra “Very S. S-P”. Seriously, you were missed.

| enclose a copy of the report | sent Dr. Wolff. The old guard will probably flip. Not only do we allow
Females to be members, but we elected one as presiding officer... | had no choice, | was railroaded. We
could have had better attendance, but | made a real howler. The SWLA dinner was Friday night instead
of Saturday as stated in the program.

As a result, Mrs. Martin had to miss our sparkling company. Mr. Miracle didn’t come down, and Mr.
Fites only came for the preconference on automation. However, Austin was well represented by Stan
McElderry, dean of LS, Mickey Boyvey, Kay Franklin, Jesse Shera, and a delightful gal whose name | do
not remember at the moment who was at Atlantic City. | have it in the “Log of the Lone Star”, but I'm
writing this at school and the log is at home.

Naturally. Dale Walker wrote a nice note of regret, and included greetings from the Mexborough
Lodgers. Ditto John Storck and the BeeKeepers of Lima.

As for the quiz, well, you were nearly hanged in absentia. The group chose to have a “group learning
experience”, e.g., work it together with a drink to whomever got it first, so no real winner emerged,
although Shera put the young entry to shame.

We are talking a January meeting, the Birthday seems out because so many are academics, and
that’s in the middle of semester break.

Term paper time is upon us, and the natives are restless out there, so I'd better close.

Regards to all,

Francine

Attendees who signed the Ship’s Log:
Kay Franklin

Frederica Kilgore

May Boyvey

Stan McElderry

Jesse Shera (from the Chips Off the Old Barque society of Austin)
Melvin Hammack

William Beeson

John (Sam) Lewis

Julian Friedmann

Majorie Lewis

Charles & Sandra Myres

Francine Morris

One person who remained anonymous
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11 November 1970

Dr. Julian Wolff

33 Riverside Drive

New York, New York 1002
Dear Dr. Wolff:

The good ship LONE STAR (no resemblance to the LOLLYPOP), is well and truly launched. We
met in the lush Victorian private dining room of the Farmer’s Daughter, a Ft. Worth steak house,
enjoyed scholarly conversation, and listed one of John Shaw’s marvelous papers.

Unfortunately, at the next to last minute, John discovered that he to stay in Santa Fe, so |
prevailed on one of the crew members to read his paper. | was delighted when five of the faithful turned
up from Austin, even if they did commit a horrible pun in designating themselves “chips off the old
barque”.

Having named themselves, they will have to live with it or organize their own scion.

| enclose a report of our activities for the next issue of BSJ. | hope | am in time for the December
issue.

Sincerely yours,

Francine

Margaret F. Morris
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18 May, 1971

Mr. Jerry Clark
Syracuse, New York 13205

Dear Mr. Clark,

Thank you for your kind letter asking about the good ship LONE STAR. Since you like our name, I'll tell
you a little more about us.

First of all, LONE STAR is a ghost ship. As you remember from “The Five Orange Pips”, the master, 1st
and 2d mates were “bad guys”. We have ascertained that the Crew learned the AWFUL TRUTH about
their officers and dumped ‘em overboard in the horse latitudes (wherever that is).

Then they scuttled the ship (or faked a ship wreck, more research is needed here), and disappeared. You
may have read at some time that for many years, in the old south and middle west, the letters GTT (for
gone to Texas), on a door meant that a man and his family had cut loose from their troubles and headed
for new country, leaving debts, the sheriff, or whatever behind them.

This is what the Crew did. Our officers include a Ship’s Cook, the Marine in the Riggings; the Shattered
Sternpost is the speaker of the evening (if we have one). Regular members are Able Seamen, new

members are Apprentice Seamen, and corresponding members are Reservists.

Sincerely yours,

Francine

Third Mate, Barque LONE STAR
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Volume 21, Number 1 — March 1971
Baker Street Journal
Scion Societies Reports

THE CREW OF THE BARQUE LONE STAR
of North Central Texas

The fall cruise was held Friday, November 6, 1970, sailing from the Farmer’s Daughter pier in Fort
Worth. Crew members enjoyed a period of liquid fellowship while awaiting the Austin group
(thereafter designated as “Chips off the Old Barque”). Quiz honors were taken by Dr. Jesse Shera, and
then twelve members and a guest enjoyed a steak dinner during which toasts were offered by Sam
Lewis and Emory Estes. Greetings from absent members and friends were read by Third Mate Morris.

John Bennett Shaw, ever helpful to new Scions, was scheduled to speak, but was unable to be present.
Sandra Myres very ably filled in by reading Mr. Shaw’s enlightening paper, “The Cult and Culture of
Sherlock Holmes.” The crew then offered toasts to Mr. Shaw and Dr. Myres. After some discussion of a
birthday dinner, the cruise ended with the ceremonial signing of the log.
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Let’s Start with a Bang

As mentioned in Francine Morris’ letter to John Bennett Shaw, and her report to the Baker Street
Journal, the first presentation was to be delivered by John Bennett Shaw, but at the last minute, Sandra
Myres, from UTA, stepped in and gave the talk, “The Cult of Sherlock Holmes”.
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THE CULT OF SHERLOCK HOLMES
John Bennett Shaw
as presented by Sandra Myres, November 06, 1970

. Brief Historical Summary

One cannot estimate how many literate people admire the Great Detective, nor how many read and
re-read and re-read again the sixty stories of his adventures as written down by his close friend and
roommate John H. Watson, M.D. We know and are amazed at the fact that one hundred twenty movies,
five hundred radio scripts, fifty television programs, twenty plays, a musical, and a ballet have been
based on his adventures.

As early as 1902, a serious, scholarly piece of investigation of aspects of the Canon, as the sixty
stories are commonly called, written by Frank Sedgwick, appeared in a noted English magazine. Even
before this, even there had been more than a dozen well-fashioned pastiches published. In 1912,
“Studies in the Literature of Sherlock Holmes” by Ronald A. Knox appeared. This is still the most
important single effort and the cornerstone of all Sherlockian research and explication.

Since the famous published address of Father Knox, it is estimated that some five thousand books,
pamphlets, monographs, studies, essays, articles, parodies, pastiches, and poems have been written and
published about Mr. Sherlock Holmes — many more than about any other literary figure. There have
been games, crossword puzzles, songs, toys, and countless jokes about the Great Detective. This
outpouring of whimsy and erudition never abates, in fact, it appears that more research is undertaken
each year. As Christopher Morley said, “Never was so much written by so many for so few.”

Il. Societies

It was a natural thing that those on both sides of the Atlantic who were devoted to Sherlock Holmes
when they met would discuss, debate, argue points of canonical fact, or just to lift a glass to the great
man and the great days of his time. Further it was normal that groups decided to form organizations the
better to keep his memory. The Baker Street Irregulars was the first and remains to this day the
foremost organization dedicated to these high purposes.

It was originated by Christopher Morley and the first meeting was in 1934 in New York City. The
name, Baker Street Irregulars, refers to the band of street urchins which from time to time were hired
by Holmes to run errands, spy upon suspects and fellow clues. The membership of the BSI is composed
of devoted, serious scholars of the Canon from every part of the world and from every walk of life.

They have met annually every year since 1934, and continue to do so on the Friday nearest the 6 of
January, Mr. Holmes’ birthdate. At these meetings, the prescribed toasts are drunk (and sometimes
others not so prescribed), dinner with lively and often brilliant table talk is enjoyed, and papers erudite,
witty, sometimes maddening, are read and enjoyed by famous for many things — science, politics,
literature, business, and the like.

The roster has included one President of the United States, a Nobel Peace Prize winner, many great
persons, and many who were, in their quiet way, great students of the Canon. At present, the BSI
numbers some 125 eager disciples: all men, incidentally, since no ladies are allowed (the example of the
Master, no doubt). This society publishes a quarterly periodical, The Baker Street Journal, now in its
twenty-second year. Naturally, membership in this society is the desired goal of every Sherlockian.

At this point, one must hasten to mention that the Sherlock Holmes Society of London is a separate,
but equal, society. It began at about the same time as the American organization. However, the terrible
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effects of the war on Britain caused a hiatus of several years, but in 1951 it was reformed and has met
successfully three or four times a year ever since. This group also celebrates the noted natal day on or
near January 6 each year. Their membership numbers about the same as the American and their
procedure is similar though | suspect a bit more restrained. They too publish a most interesting
periodical, The Sherlock Holmes Journal, which appears twice yearly and is in its sixteenth year.

There is a Sherlock Holmes Klubben | Danmark, and they too have a fine periodical issued thrice a
year, and is now in its twelfth year. There is another Danish society called The King of Scandinavia’s Own
Sherlockians. They issue, from time to time, a Literary Letter.

Other societies flourish in Sweden, in the Netherlands, and in Japan.

The Irregular members came from many cities across the United States and Canada, from Europe,
and Asia also. News of the success of this association and the great fun had by its members soon spread
about the land. Within a few years, groups of vociferous and enthusiastic Sherlockians were organized
into clubs and had formal meetings at stated intervals. One of the first of these groups, known as Scion
Societies, was the Speckled Band in Boston. Since the formation of this distinguished Scion, the satellite
groups adopted names based upon stories in the Canon.

Another of the pioneer Scions was, and is, the noted Hounds of the Baskerville (sic). This unusual
name derives from the fact that this misspelling of the title was once used in pirating an edition of The
Hound of the Baskervilles, published in Chicago. Other early Scions include the following still lively and
creative: The Six Napoleons of Baltimore, The Illustrious Clients of Indianapolis, the Scowers of San
Francisco and their ladies auxiliary, the Molly Maguires, The Amateur Mendicants of Detroit, the Copper
Beeches of Philadelphia, and others.

Among those that are seemingly dormant but which have contributed much to the cult are: The
Three Students of Long Island, the Scandalous Bohemians of Akron, The Five Orange Pips of Westchester
County, New York, The Seventeen Steps of Los Angeles, The Pondicherry Lodge of Springfield, Illinois,
The Wisteria Lodge of Confederates in North Carolina, The Canadian Baskervilles of Hamilton, Ontario,
The Solitary Cyclist of Washington (a lady who was denied admittance to the Six Napoleons of Baltimore
or the Red Circle of Washington, so she had her own group, meetings, toasts, and some fun), and others.

Scions like the Five Orange Pips, The Speckled Band, The Norwegian Explorers of Minnesota (now
latent), and The lllustrious Clients are some that have actually published anthologies of papers and
accounts of research. In the past decade, even more of these societies have been formed and are active.
These include: The Great Alkali Plainsman of the Kansas City area, The Old SOB’s (Old Soldiers of Baker
Street) of Detroit, The Maiwand Jezails of Omaha area, Sir Hugo’s Companions of Chicago, The
Pondicherry Lodge of Seattle-Portland, and a half dozen more.

Of even greater interest has been the formation and active participation of younger Sherlockians in
such activities. At least three such groups, which include high school and college youths, are active.
These are the Baker Street Pages of Kingston, Ontario, The Three Students Plus of Fulton, Missouri, and
a talented group working from Pearl River, New York, who have a periodical entitled Some Studies in
Scarlet, but have no Canonical name that | can detect.

There has been a most interesting rather anti-establishment young Scion group in San Francisco, The
Murderous Ghazis, but | fear that the rigors of college has dimmed their bright, sharp fire. Another
group, equally creative, is active in a girl’s college in Connecticut. A high school group functions in the
Chicago area, and has had a quarterly journal. Such junior activity is encouraged both for the intellectual
development of the student and also to further the third generation of the Cult of the Great Detective.

[ll. Other Activities, Missionary, and Otherwise

Many Sherlockians, snug and secure in their avocation, attempt to spread the good word. Admirable
zeal, this! One BSI has delivered in a twelve month period ten addresses in five states in which he
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praises the Cult and fosters new interest — even attempts to help start new Scions. Others write on The
Subject for secular periodicals or call to the attention of columnists and commentators information and
memoranda of interest to devotees and to other literate people.

Several of the Scions as well as The Baker Street Irregulars itself sponsor horse races named after
The Silver Blaze (one of the sixty stories). These are held annually in New York, Chicago, Toronto,
England, and Denmark.

Some of the Scions urge the reshowing of the many Sherlock Holmes films, and some even rent the
films and have private showings for their society or for a group of friends or for other organizations.
Others stage elaborate and eye-catching exhibitions of Canonical and peripheral material, and thus
create interest in the Cause. Others simply relax and enjoy the fecund outpouring of Sherlockian
material.

Even more phenomenal is the recently constituted, well-organized Scion society based upon the
character of Solar Pons — the longest and most successful of the hundreds of parodies, some 57 stories
by August Derleth. The Pontine Society has membership cares, certificates of investiture with titles from
the Pons stories, even a well-done journal. Its membership includes persons from all over the United
States, Canada, and Europe. All this is sort of a shadow casting a shadow!

All'in all, this is fun — intellectual, challenging, even demanding. The opportunity to develop strong
friendships is great; the probabilities are that one will be greatly amused. Some thousands benefit
intellectually and emotionally from this association of wits and good fellows. Take the word of one who
knows that in the words of Vincent Starrett:

“Here, though the world explode, these two survive,
And it is always eighteen ninety-five!”
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A Quiz Can Be a Capital Punishment

As mentioned in Francine Morris’ letter to John Bennett Shaw, his quiz was delivered to the attendees
of the first meeting. It was determined to do it as a group project once people saw how John designed

his quizzes.
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THE CREW OF THE BARQUE LONE STAR -- “PUNS” ON AUTHORS AND / OR
BOOKS PROBABLY FOUND IN HOLMES’ LIBRARY

“l am an omnivorous reader with a strange retentive memory for trifles”
(LION)

1. While riding on a train a group of religious fundamentalists were heard to sing “Nearer My Guide
to Thee”. Of what title used by Holmes does this remind one?

2. One eats eats, drinks drink: does one read read? Holmes did read read and what author and which
title did he recommend?

3. A person quite unfamiliar with Latin might read this title to mean that the twelve good mean true
were in the can. What title?

4. Sherlock Holmes was an accomplished chemist and he would know that the process in which the
rate of chemical reaction is increased by a substance is called a catalysis. He also read a poet
whose name sounded like the name of this process.

5. In “The Red-Headed League”, the Master Detective misquoted an author whose name might be
transliterated to read ‘faulty bruin’.

6. Holmes, no cricketer, probably couldn’t bowl or pitch or throw a ball; but he quoted an axiom by
an American whose name reminded of one who did these things.

7. On one occasion Holmes alluded to a volume the title of which could refer to the posteriors of
several departing and unhappy mythical creatures.
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8. It was another historical person who said “My Kingdom for a horse”. Holmes had no kingdom yet
he quoted this poet twice.

9. Many detectives spy on their prey, often through a keyhole. But Holmes felt that there was more
to the profession than that. Yet his book on the subject was entitled?

10. Watson quoted this post in an early tale and a volume of the works of this post was stolen from
Old Acton — the clue is that it could be a baseball event.

Answers:

Bradshaw’s Railway Guide
The Martyrdom of Man

De Jure Inter Gentis
Catalus

Flau Bear

Thoreau

Grimm’s Fairy Tales

Horace

The Whole Art of Detection
Homer

OO NOU A WNE
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It’s Bedlam... We Need Rules

During the first year of the existence of the Barque Lone Star Society, it was determined a set of “Buoy
Laws” should be accepted for the working of the Society. These rules are attached, including the
Addenda added several years later.
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THE SHIP’S ARTICLES
Original Buoy Laws

ARTICLE |
The name of this Society shall be The Crew of The Barque LONE STAR.

ARTICLE Il
Its purpose shall be To Perpetuate the Legend that Sherlock Holmes is Not a Legend.

ARTICLE Il
This Sherlockian Society shall strive to Earn and Maintain Recognition as A Scion of The Baker Street
Irregulars.

ARTICLE IV
All persons of Good Will who are Interested in Sherlock Holmes, Wherever They may be, shall be
Welcome to Join The Crew. There shall be No Tests or other Obstacles to Membership.

ARTICLE IV
The Barque shall Forever have but One Officer, a Third Mate.
The Barque’sHallowed and Traditional “Not-It!” Ceremony shall be used to Formally Install, in his or her
turn, each successive Third Mate. The duties of the Third Mate shall be those commonly performed by
the Gasogene (President), the Tantalus (Secretary) and the Commissionaire (Everything Else).

BUOY-LAWS

The Crew shall embarque upon a Cruise on a Sunday near the End of each Month excepting the

Holiday Months, November and December.

Each cruise shall include a Dutch-treat luncheon in the Barque’s Grand Saloon. (For details, see

ADDENDUM 2 below.) During the week before each Cruise, The Third Mate shall notify Each and

Every Member of The Crew regarding the Programmeand other Cruise Specifics.

The Third Mate shall, Without Fail, see to it that the One Groaning Board in the Barque’sGrand

Saloon is Always made sufficiently Spacious to comfortably accommodate Every Attending member

of the Ship’s Company, lest any persons be made to feel Marooned.

Unpleasantness shall Never be welcome aboard The Barque.

During each Cruise, the Barque’sSacred Scholarly Toasts shall be Offered as follows:

a. tothe Queen!

b. to Sherlock Holmes!

c. tothe Sovereign State of Texas: Confusion to Its Enemies!

d. to The Barque LONE STAR, Proud Ship-of-the-Line of the Texas Navy, and to All who Sail aboard
Her.

e. to The Blessed Memory of this Society’s Godfather, Midwife, and Friend, John Bennet Shaw, BSI,
“The Hans Sloane of My Age”.

After the Sacred Toasts, further toasts ad libitum shall be welcomed.

During each Cruise, one or more Clean-Tables shall be provided in the Grand Saloon for the Safe

Display of Sherlockian Memorabilia. Neither food, nor drink, nor burning tobacco, nor chewing

tobacco, not snuff shall ever be brought Near any Clean-Table.
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8. The Sworn Duties of every member of The Crew shall be to “go everywhere, see everything,
overhear everyone” in support of ourMissions:

a. a.to Find the Lost Members of The Crew and restore their Names to the Ship’s Roster. (For this
Mission, the Methods of the Press Gang, while Not Recommended, shall be Tolerated --in
Moderation.)

b. to Notify the Third Mate of all local and distant Sherlockian events, whether or notinstigated by
The Crew, so that Landing Parties may be organized and put ashore to Support and Enjoy them.

9. Asdirected by a Unanimous Vote of The Ship’s Company, the Third Mate shall Forever Guard, with
His or Her very Life, the Confidentiality of the Ship’s Roster and every Detail therein.

10. No Member of The Crew shall Ever be Drafted, Conscripted, or Elected to perform any Duty.
Voluntary Efforts by Members of The Crew have kept the Wind in the Barque’s Sails for Decades,
and The Crew shall continue to Support and Depend Upon its Volunteers.

11. No Dues or any other Fees shall Ever be Required of the Members of The Crew.

12. The Only Forum for Discussion of any Change to the “No-Dues” Policy shall be the Business Meeting.

13. There shall be no Business Meeting.

ADDENDA

1. About The Barque: Thanks to the Unremitting Persistence of the Ship’s Chaplain and the Gunner’s
Mate, The Barque LONE STAR has been Proclaimed by the Texas Legislature to be a Ship-of-the-Line
of the Texas Navy.

2. Cruise Details: Each Luncheon shall be Dutch-Treat, with Free Choice from the Menu and Separate
Checks. To avoid Wearing Out our Welcome, it is our Inviolable Custom that Everyone who attends a
Cruise shall buy a Meal (minimally, an Entree or a Sandwich or a Chef’s Salad). A 20% Gratuity shall
be included in each Diner’s Check.

3. Recompense: During the Barque’sDecades at Sea, various Volunteers have generously invested Their
Own Funds in Projects dedicated to the Enlightenment, Entertainment, and Moral Uplift of The
Crew. (Example: the Rental and Shipping Charges for the Mostly-Canonical Jeremy Brett Magic
Lantern Shows shown during Cruises, but not yet available from the Collections of Crew members.)
Such Generosity deserves Remuneration. For Volunteers who may wish to launch such Worthy
Projects, here are some Suggestions in accordance with this Society’s “No-Dues” Policy:

a. Keep your out-of-pocket Expenditures to a Minimum, because full (or even partial)
Remuneration cannot ever be guaranteed.
b. Before spending, discuss your Project with the Third Mate. Free or less-expensive Means may be
possible.
c. If you wish some Recompense for your Expenditures, indicate this to the Third Mate, and report
the Amount you have spent.
d. During the next Cruise, the Third Mate shall
1) place the Beggars’ Bowl (in remembrance of The Amateur Mendicants Society) upon the
Groaning Board,
2) describe or review your Project and its Benefits,
3) tell How Much you spent, and
4) encourage Generous Remuneration.
4. The Ship’s Mottoes (so far):
a. a. “Let the Third Mate do it!”
b. b. “We Strive, Regardless!”
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A Word About Our Founders

William “Bill” Beeson

Bill was a computer programmer at Texas Instruments, a magician, and one of
the founders of The Crew of The Barque Lone Star, an ardent Texan who
delighted in parading in costume wearing a ten-gallon deerstalker. He also
arranged for a supply of cloth saddlebags to hold the souvenirs distributed at
annual dinners of The Baker Street Irregulars. He received his investiture in the
Baker Street Irregulars in 1983 as “The Barque Lone Star.”

From Scuttlebutt from the Spermaceti Press

Margaret Francine Morris Swift

Francine was proud to be a Texan, faithful to her corgis Prudence and Hatty, and
devoted to her husband Wayne. Francine was a librarian when she joined the
Sub-Librarians in the late 1960s, the primary founder of the Barque Lone In the
late 1970s, Francine moved to Washington and met, and married, Wayne Swift.
She was a member of the Adventuresses of Sherlock Holmes (as "Hatty Doran"),
and many other Sherlockian societies; Francine was honored by the Baker Street
Irregulars as *The* Woman in 1983, and received her BSI Investiture in 1994 as
“The Wigmore Street Post Office”, for her prolific interest in the happenings of
her friends and willingness to circulate information.

From Scuttlebutt from the Spermaceti Press

Francis Bullitt Lowry

Bullitt was a professor of history at the University of North Texas, where he
taught European, military and diplomatic history. Dedicated to the historic
preservation of Denton, he helped create the Denton Historic Landmark
Commission, serving as its first chair in 1980. He also chaired the Denton County
Historical Commission and wrote several works on the history of the city. He
received numerous awards from the Texas Historical Commission, including the

John Ben Shepperd Award for the best chair of a Texas county historical commission in 1987. Bullitt

worked with Bill and Francine to found the Crew of the Barque Lone Star Society.
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A Very Nice Tribute to One of Our Founders

Margaret Francine Morris Swift was beloved by all Sherlockians who had met her. The following tribute
shows that level of respect and friendship.
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As originally published in The Serpentine Muse, Vol. 24, No. 1, Winter 2007

Stand Upon the Terrace

Adventuresses suffered a grievous loss with the unexpected death of Francine Morris Swift (Hatty
Doran). Elsewhere in this issue Evy Herzog shares her memories of
Francine.

As Contributions Editor, let me add a personal note. Francine was an
incredibly thoughtful and caring woman, as well as a delightful companion.
She and | shared a special bond as the number of Texans in ASH is quite
small and--though we had both moved north—once a Texan, always a
Texan. This week as | was reshelving our Sherlockian collection, | found
memento after memento from Francine: Wodehousian clippings, the book
written by Prudence Moran Swift (the corgi beloved by Francine and
Wayne) and inscribed to our dogs Robo and Buddy and, most of all, the
letters-warm, funny, personal, and now a little tear-stained.

Susan Z. Diamond
Serpentine Muse Editor

Francine Morris Swift (Hatty Doran / The Wigmore Street Post Office)

Francine Swift was Francine Morris when we first met back in the early 1970s. She was a recently-
arrived resident of Washington, D.C., and an enthusiastic member of The Red Circle, a group | visited
as often as possible. Francine was a university librarian, an experienced Sherlockian, an independent
woman, and an acute raconteur with a deceptively mild Southern accent.

When ASH was reborn in the mid-70s, we signed her up as soon as possible, with the investiture
"Hatty Doran." She was an Adventuress for more than thirty years. | can't possibly do justice to her
whole life, so let me just sketch out some of the highlights of her career as an ASH.

Francine was one of the happy seventeen who attended the first planned ASH dinner in January 1976.
She caused a sensation at the 1977 costumed birthday dinner when she attended as Hatty in rugged
female prospector's garb and subsequently got into a mock-tussle with lady-of-the-evening Kitty
Winter as portrayed by Kate Karlson. (A rock hammer beats a feather boa every time!) But Hatty
Doran was a lady, too, with a fine needlewoman's accomplishments: That same 1977 January
weekend, she had a featured piece in our "Quick, Watson, the Needle!" needlework exhibition--a
magnificently-decorated chambray shirt she had embroidered with insignia from each of the
Canonical tales.

Always reliable as a speaker, whether scheduled or extemporaneous, she for many years gave the
toast to Queen Victoria at all ASH gatherings. Only in her absence did that honor pass to Bertie
Pearson and then to Mickey Fromkin. Over the years Francine treated us to quizzes, sketches, and
impromptu anecdotes. None raised greater hilarity than her account of her scientific culinary
investigation of "the parsley in the butter" (SIXN). You can find it in Serpentine Muse-ings, Vol. 2, but
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it's hard to convey in print the rising pitch and increasing outrage of Francine's voice as she detailed
her frustrations in the quest. Francine also assisted as the narrator in the world-renowned Reverse
Strip Tease performed at the January 1980 ASH dinner by Marina Stajic.

Once Francine and Wayne Swift married (one of the great Sherlockian romances), Wayne often
became a collaborator in her contributions to the ASH dinners and the Muse. The themes of many of
their shared avocations--including horseracing, their dogs, their travels with the London society,
Gilbert & Sullivan, puns-all found their way into their writings and performances for us. Wayne had a
drawing of Francine as Hatty Doran made into a card for her--note the crossed rock hammer and
roses.

Already an Adventuress of long-standing, Francine became "The Woman" for the BSI in 1983, then,
deservedly, a Baker Street Irregular in 1994--one of the few to achieve that "triple crown." Her BSI
investiture, The Wigmore Street Post Office, was a wink at Francine's prolific interest in the
happenings of her friends and willingness to circulate information.

Wayne's death in 2001 after twenty-four years of marriage but twenty years of fighting cancer was a
blow from which Francine never really recovered, despite her strong Christian faith, her gallant spirit,
and the support of her large circle of friends.

Her death now brings back to us the image of Francine in her prime--her erudition on so many topics,
her enthusiasm in Sherlockian activities, her brilliance as an anecdotalist notwithstanding a pesky
stutter, her generosity, her love of God and enjoyment of the minutiae of church worship, her
cultivation of her friends throughout the world, her ability to alternate between a Southern lady's
gentility and an outdoor woman's bluntness, and her rollicking humor.

So, thank you, Francine: you gave us all a lot, most of all an example of how to be a good Sherlockian
and a good woman.

So long, chum.
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Capturing Her in Artwork

One of the founders of the Society, Margaret Francine Morris Swift became good friends with artist, Jeff
Decker. Over the years, Jeff captured Francine in several ways.
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In Search of a Founder
As originally published in The Serpentine Muse, Vol. 24, No. 1, Winter 2007

How We Spent Our Christmas Holiday

or How Sherlockians find Sherlockians
By Don Hobb and Steve Mason

It was just over a year ago that the Dallas area Sherlock Holmes society, The Crew of the Barque
LONE STAR, received a message from a prominent East Coast Sherlockian, inquiring about Bill Beeson,
(“The Barque Lone Star”).

According to the message, emails sent to Bill started bouncing back to the sender without any
reason attached to them. The inquirer kindly asked if we could follow-up and gather any information
regarding his whereabouts. Steve Mason and Don Hobbs, BSI started Sherlocking the disappearance.

Bill’s last known mailing address was in Sherman, Texas. This is a small city about sixty miles north of
Dallas. Starting there with our inquiries, we were told that Bill had been transferred to the Veteran’s
Hospital in Bonham, Texas. Bonham is approximately ninety miles northeast of Dallas. So our
investigation shifted to this spot on the map.

The most logical step in our journey was to follow the clues and call the Veteran’s Hospital in
Bonham. This was to see if they had a patient or resident by the name of Bill Beeson. As an aside, we
have all heard of the issues with the Veteran’s Administration over the past few years across the country.

Whatever the national situation is it did not seem to apply here in Texas. Through our journey, all the
workers we dealt with were cordial, patient, and willing to assist.

The Veteran’s hospital let us know Bill had been a patient there in the past, but was not currently
there. The hospital suggested we contact the Texas Veteran’s Home next to the hospital. Strangely, this
center is administered by the Texas General Land Office who also responds to coastal oil spills.

A conversation with that facility revealed Bill had never resided within their residence. Possibly, he
was located at the rehabilitation center, which brought us back to the Veteran’s Administration center.

The next call eliminated that possibility. Lastly, they suggested we contact the actual Veteran’s
Administration Community Resident Center, which is also part of the V.A. system in Bonham. Not quite a
red-circle but close enough that we felt a bit dizzy going around and around.

We are both aware of the constraints under the HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act) recognized that talking to administrators over the telephone is a chancy proposition
at best. But the conversations were actually entertaining.

We spoke to the Administrator of the Resident Center, who again was extremely friendly. This is a
very short summary of the discussion:

STEVE: Hi, this will sound fairly strange, but | am trying to locate a potential resident,
who is a member of a society in Dallas, which is a literary society based on Sherlock Holmes and
Conan Doyle. It has been indicated to us that Bill may be living at your facility.

ADM: What is his full name?

STEVE: Willian B. Beeson, but he goes by Bill.

ADM: | can tell you that Bill was a resident at one time at the facility.

STEVE: Can you tell me if Bill is still there?

ADM: | can’t tell you that.

[Setback # 1]
STEVE: | understand the concerns. Since Bill has no family, we are just wanting to ensure
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he is OK, and if he needs anything that we can provide.

ADM: That is very nice of you. What could you provide him?

STEVE: We could bring him periodicals from the Baker Street Irregulars for him to read,
as well as “The Serpentine Muse” from the Adventuresses of Sherlock Holmes, and our society’s
monthly newsletter.

ADM: | am sure Bill would appreciate being able to receive those.

STEVE: So we should come up and bring him the journals?

ADM: | didn’t say that... again, | cannot tell you whether Bill is here or not. Just that he
was here at one time.

[Setback # 2]

STEVE: Let’s try it this way. Would it be worth the effort to drive up to Bonham to visit
Bill, or would we be wasting our time?

ADM: Nice try. | will tell you, if you bring the journals and if Bill is here, then we would
give them to him. If he is not here, then we would not give them to him.

This circuitous discussion went on for over five minutes. We then decided the best bet was to
actually take a trip to Bonham to see if we could discover the whereabouts of one Bill Beeson.

Since both of us have full time jobs and busy schedules, the trip to Bonham kept getting delayed and
postponed. Finally, the week of Christmas, 2015, allowed both of us to be off of work at the same time,
so we headed to Bonham. Our Hansom cab was actually Steve’s Ford, but it made the journey without
incident.

In the early 1970’s Bill Beeson, Margaret Francine Morris, and Bullitt Lowry, founded The Crew of the
Barque LONE STAR. According to which Sherlockian historian one reads, the Crew was either the first or
the second Sherlockian society in the Dallas area.

Regardless of what place the Crew ranks, Bill was the first Dallas Sherlockian to receive an investiture
into the Baker Street Irregulars. In 1983, he received his investiture as The Barque Lone Star.

Although many issues conspired to keep Bill from going to New York City for the birthday celebration
weekend after 1987, he stayed very active in the Dallas area Sherlockian scene well into the new
millennium.

Slowly, Bill faded from the Dallas Sherlockian activities and after moving to Sherman in 2006 ceased
all communication with the Crew. Luckily, he remained in contact with that prominent East Coast
Sherlockian.

Bill accomplished many amazing feats during his tenure and one that still survives to this day. In
1979, Bill approached a prominent Texas legislator, and persuaded the representative to introduce a
resolution in the Texas House.

This resolution, HR 69, signed in May, 1979 by the Speaker of the House (who later became
Governor of the State), lists the Barque Lone Star as a ship of the Texas Navy, and all crew members of
the society be commissioned into the Texas Navy.

Of course, if the State of Texas ever follows through on its threat to secede from the United States,
all of our society members may be drafted into active duty to protect the southern shore line. This is a
task that some, more than others, would cherish dearly.

According to the irregular history of the Crew, the Third Mate is the society’s leader due to fact that
the Captain and the First and Second Mates of the Barque LONE STAR were part of the corruption laid
forth in “The Adventure of the Five Orange Pips.”

Through Bill’s leaders